

A Toolkit to Safeguard Fossil Fuel Measures from Investment Treaty Claims

Table of Contents

	Executive Summary
2	Introduction: Confronting Investor-State Dispute Settlement Risks to Climate Action
5	Part I: Removing the Risk: Options to Eliminate Treaty-Based ISDS Risks
5	1.1 Termination of or Withdrawal from Treaties
5	Treaty termination and withdrawal are common practice
5	Conditions and legal effects of termination and withdrawal from investment agreements
5	Box: Withdrawing from Enforcement Regimes: Another way to remove or reduce the risk posed by ISDS
8	Treaty termination or withdrawal due to a fundamental change of circumstances
10	Sunset clauses and their neutralization
11	1.2 Treaty Carveouts
12	Carveout design: sectoral or purpose-based
13	Individual modification of treaties or a multilateral agreement
14	1.3 Removal of the ISDS Clause
14	1.4 Withdrawal of Consent to ISDS
15	Part II: Reducing the Risk: Options to Mitigate ISDS Risks
15	2.1 Adoption and Enforcement of Exceptions, Right to Regulate, and Valuation Provisions
16	2.2 Specification of Substantive Obligations to Protect Legitimate Climate Measures
18	2.3 Crafting Climate Measures to Minimize Vulnerability to ISDS Claims
19	Part III: Responding to the Risk: Options to Challenge ISDS Claims
19	3.1 State Responses to Investors' Claims
19	Challenge the jurisdiction of the tribunal
20	Assert the State duty to regulate and harmonious interpretation on the merits
22	Clarify legitimate expectations of investors in the context of climate change
23	Review the valuation of fossil fuel assets and compensation owed
23	Argue the necessity defense
25	3.2 Potential Actions by Non-Disputing State Parties
26	3.3 Potential Actions by Non-Parties
26	Conclusion
27	Endnotes

î

Executive Summary

The science is unequivocal: Fossil fuels are the overwhelming driver of climate change, and rapidly ending dependence on them is essential to avoiding further, catastrophic harm. Yet governments that take action to accelerate the transition away from oil, gas, and coal face an escalating risk of legal challenge from foreign investors over the perceived impacts of such measures on their investment returns or other costs imposed. Fossil fuel companies are among the biggest users of investor-State dispute settlement (ISDS), which allows foreign investors to bring arbitration claims against governments to obtain compensation for losses they claim to incur as a result of government regulations or decisions.

The prospect of such claims, which often involve substantial costs and awards reaching the millions or even billions of dollars, may dissuade governments from undertaking urgently needed climate actions. Judgments that award fossil fuel companies compensation ultimately force States to pay polluters, rather than make polluters pay for the climate consequences of their operations. Policymakers and experts around the world are increasingly recognizing ISDS as a significant legal barrier to the necessary phaseout of fossil fuels. But it is not an insurmountable one.

Understanding how to prevent, minimize, and manage ISDS risk is essential to preserve policy space and enable States to fulfill their legal obligations concerning climate change, including the duty to regulate business conduct that foreseeably harms people and the environment. This toolkit discusses measures States and advocates can pursue to remove the risk of ISDS, reduce States' exposure to investment arbitration claims, and respond to claims if and when they arise.

Just as States created the investment law regime, States can dismantle or modify it in accordance with evolving needs and priorities. Certain measures can effectively eliminate ISDS risks, whereas others can mitigate or manage such risks. Among the strategies available to States to prevent the use and abuse of ISDS to challenge climate policies is the withdrawal from or termination of existing investment agreements that provide for investor-State arbitration. Exiting or ending agreements can be justified on distinct legal grounds, including instances where fundamental changes in circumstances warrant departure from or suspension of a specific treaty regime. States can also exclude certain sectors, such as fossil fuels, or certain policy measures, such as greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions regulations, from the scope of investment agreements between them, or from laws that allow ISDS. Other options include removing ISDS-related clauses from existing agreements or withdrawing State consent to arbitration. Implementing such measures is not without challenge, but various legal procedures and arguments can be invoked to support States in removing or limiting ISDS.

Additional options are available to reduce the risk of ISDS. States can strengthen environmental or public policy exception clauses in investment treaties or clarify their interpretation to reduce the viability of investor claims against State climate action, and thereby deter investors from bringing challenges. States can also design and adopt climate measures in a way that minimizes their vulnerability to challenge under investment law, including by ensuring transparency,

proper adherence to due process, and non-discrimination against foreign investors, and by expressly grounding the rationale for such measures in States' concurrent legal duties to act on climate.

If an investor lodges an arbitration claim against State action on climate generally, or fossil fuels specifically, States can assert a number of jurisdictional responses to preclude adjudication, as well as substantive legal arguments on the merits or challenges to the valuation of fossil fuel investment assets and the compensation owed, among other defenses. Non-disputing States can intervene in an action to clarify the interpretation of the relevant investment agreement if they are a party to it, thereby potentially influencing the outcome and mitigating the risk of similar claims against them in the future. Non-parties, including interested civil society organizations and communities, can, in turn, raise the public profile of the dispute or seek to make a submission to the arbitration tribunal when they can demonstrate that their involvement and expertise would assist in the resolution of the dispute.

This toolkit serves to elucidate these various measures for removing, reducing, or responding to ISDS risks within the context of the transition away from fossil fuels. It aims to equip readers with an understanding of potential pathways to blunting the threat of investment arbitration. While largely focused on ISDS in the energy sector, particularly in relation to oil, gas, and coal, the toolkit remains relevant to other environmentally sensitive activities. It is a dynamic document, subject to periodic updates to accommodate evolving developments and emerging facts. The strategies and tools outlined herein are neither exhaustive nor prescriptive; States and advocates navigating this domain may find some approaches and arguments more appropriate than others depending on national circumstances and capacities.

The scale, pace, and severity of the climate crisis demand coordinated action to tackle its chief cause: fossil fuels. Individually or collaboratively, States are encouraged to pursue available and effective options to overcome the obstacle that ISDS poses to urgently needed climate action. Our collective futures and those of generations to come depend on it.

Introduction Confronting Investor-State Dispute Settlement Risks to Climate Action

The unprecedented and accelerating global climate crisis demands urgent government action to curb its primary cause: the production and use of fossil fuels. Oil, gas, and coal generate the overwhelming majority of planet-warming greenhouse gas emissions. They also have significant adverse impacts on the environment, health, and human rights. Ending reliance on fossil fuels is essential to avoid further, catastrophic climate change. However, necessary State measures to halt new extraction of oil, gas, and coal, phase out their production and use, shut down existing fossil fuel facilities, and accelerate the transition to fossil-free, renewable alternatives may face legal challenges from investors under international investment arbitration. Provisions under some treaties, contracts, and national laws allow foreign investors to sue a State for compensation when regulation, denial or revocation of licenses, or other State action allegedly harms their returns. Some fossil fuel companies have already done so, and others may follow. The purpose of this toolkit is to assist States and advocates in confronting the challenge of investment claims in the context of fossil fuel-related environmental action. It provides strategies for eliminating, minimizing, or addressing the risk of investor-State dispute settlement (ISDS).

To date, the fossil fuel industry has been a dominant user of ISDS, with at least 231 known treaty-based ISDS claims involving fossil fuel investments² noting that there are many more claims based on investor-State contracts or national laws. Recent years have demonstrated that the threat of ISDS claims over fossil fuel-related climate mitigation measures is not hypothetical.³ As an example, German energy companies Uniper and RWE initiated arbitration proceedings against the Netherlands under the investment protection provisions of the Energy Charter Treaty (ECT) — a multilateral framework for energy cooperation that includes investment obligations⁴ — alleging that the government's plan to phase out coal by 2030 in line with the Paris Agreement constituted expropriation without adequate

compensation.⁵ Foreign investors have similarly brought claims against Canada for measures to phase out coal-fired electricity generation, revoke a permit for oil and gas exploration, and reject a proposed liquefied natural gas (LNG) project. The United States (US) is also currently facing arbitration claims arising from the Biden Administration's revocation of the permit for constructing and operating the Keystone XL Pipeline. And after a legislative ban on offshore oil and gas drilling thwarted its plans to develop an oil project off the Italian coast, a British oil and gas exploration company brought an arbitration claim against Italy under the ECT, receiving an award of over €180 million (plus interest). These instances could mark the beginning of a broader trend. International investment agreements (IIAs), investor-State contracts, and local regulations protect a considerable number of projects related to fossil fuels. However, to limit the increase in worldwide average temperatures to 1.5°C, governments must forgo the development of numerous identified fossil fuel reserves. 11 Such action means many investment-protected fossil fuel projects may be forced to cease or shut down early, potentially leading to legal claims under investment laws.

Even in the absence of actual claims, the looming prospect of arbitration can deter climate initiatives. Arbitration tribunals (also referred to as arbitral tribunals) lack the authority to suspend or overturn regulations, meaning ISDS claims cannot compel the amendment or repeal of domestic measures. Nevertheless, these tribunals wield authority to grant substantial monetary compensation for breaches of investment protection standards, often reaching values in the millions or even billions of US dollars. The potential obligation to pay such significant sums and the expenses associated with defending against arbitration claims can exert a "chilling effect" on domestic measures intended to implement environmental or climate action.

The opaque nature of ISDS proceedings¹² and methodological challenges make it impossible to quantify precisely how many State measures and regulations have been subject to ISDS claims, let alone how many contemplated or proposed measures have succumbed to the threat of ISDS. However, the risk of facing a substantial arbitration award and the costs of arbitration defense have become a potent disincentive for States to pursue certain climate policy measures that could adversely impact foreign investors. For instance, Denmark and New Zealand have acknowledged that the threat of ISDS hindered their climate policy ambitions. 13 This chilling effect has been recognized in reports presented at the UN General Assembly,14 as well as by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and arbitrators. 15

While the risks associated with ISDS accumulate, the supposed benefits of investment arbitration have failed to materialize. Experts have argued that ISDS is a valuable tool to attract investment. However, recent research reveals little evidence of the touted benefits of IIAs and ISDS, thu unexpectedly high costs. Although defenders of IIAs, particularly the ECT, often assert that it has a positive influence on foreign direct investment inflows in the renewable energy sector, various studies have failed to support this argument. Therefore, it is difficult for States to justify the continuation of their investment agreements, especially those that include ISDS provisions. It

Investment disputes may emerge from breakdowns in coordination within governments. For instance, conflicts may arise when environmental ministries, in their pursuit of more rigorous environmental and social impact assessments, conflict with the commitments outlined in IIAs, domestic laws, or investment contracts. This could include canceling fossil fuel licenses, permits, and contracts for exploration or exploitation of oil, gas, or coal. Likewise, trade ministries might introduce IIAs, investment contracts, or investment laws that, in practice, diverge from environmental and human rights obligations and regulations. To avoid, prevent, and mitigate potential conflicts, it is crucial to enhance coherence across various ministries and the broader approach of

States to international investment law. This requires alignment between any investment treaties, laws, and contracts with environmental and human rights laws and obligations at international and domestic levels. Such coherence ensures that these instruments collectively advance the public interest and are consistent with States' policy objectives and legal obligations.

In this context, States have ample tools to neutralize the threat of ISDS. Just as States established international investment law and the ISDS system, States have the power to dismantle the system or reform it, to limit its scope and impacts. As awareness of the threat ISDS poses to environmental and climate change policy has grown, States have started implementing various measures at international, regional, bilateral, and national levels. Some have opted to terminate their investment treaties, either unilaterally or by consent (with or without renegotiation).²³ Others have decided to pursue reforms of ISDS bilaterally, multilaterally, or under the auspices of different forums.²⁴ Some of those reforms have aimed at altering the substantive provisions in IIAs, while others address the procedural rules governing ISDS or the scope of ISDS in contracts and national laws.²⁵

This toolkit lays out some of those options and other strategies that States have to remove, reduce, or respond to treaty-based threats of ISDS. Part I describes measures that can eliminate treaty-based ISDS risks. Part II discusses options that can mitigate but not fully eliminate these risks. Drawing on recent cases and analysis, Part III reviews avenues that States and other actors can take if ISDS claims arise. The measures discussed in this toolkit are not intended to be comprehensive or exhaustive; they offer a sample of possible approaches States may pursue in the face of ISDS threats. Not all options will be equally appropriate or feasible for every State at all times. The suitability of a given approach will depend on a State's unique circumstances and the timeframe for addressing ISDS-related risks — whether in the short, medium, or long-term. States can choose individual or cumulative measures based on their national context and adopted plans. What is clear and uniformly applicable, however, is that investment law must not impede urgently needed climate action, without which all countries will suffer.

Part I Removing the Risk: Options to Eliminate Treaty-Based ISDS Risks

To eliminate the risk of treaty-based ISDS, States can employ various measures, including the termination or withdrawal from investment treaties $(\underline{1.1})$, implementing treaty carveouts $(\underline{1.2})$, removing ISDS provisions $(\underline{1.3})$, and withdrawing consent to ISDS $(\underline{1.4})$.

These measures do not carry the same legal implications. States choosing between these measures should consider their specific circumstances and desired outcomes. Termination or withdrawal from investment treaties (1.1) signals a State's exit from certain treaty obligations, while treaty carveouts (1.2)involve specific provisions to exclude certain sectors or measures from treaty protection. Removal of ISDS provisions (1.3) entails a deliberate decision to eliminate the mechanism from existing agreements, and the withdrawal of consent to ISDS (1.4) represents a more targeted approach, indicating a State's refusal to engage in ISDS proceedings. Each measure has distinct legal consequences and strategic considerations that States should weigh based on their unique national circumstances and approaches.

1.1 Termination of or Withdrawal from Treaties

Treaty termination and withdrawal are common practice

Treaty termination and unilateral withdrawal are routine occurrences under international law. In the context of IIAs, the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) has documented a trend of more treaties being terminated than adopted: "[I]n 2022, countries concluded 15 IIAs. For the third consecutive year, the number of effective treaty terminations exceeded that of new IIAs, with 84 terminations." Similarly, a study found 1,547 instances of denunciation and

withdrawal from 5,416 multilateral agreements registered with the UN between 1945 and 2004.²⁷ Based on these findings, the study concluded that "denunciations and withdrawals are a regularized component of modern treaty practice."²⁸ In the context of fossil fuels, termination of IIAs is likely to increase due to their incompatibility with the pace of decarbonization of the energy sector and the intensity of emissions reduction efforts needed to comply with State duties to act on climate change.

States can unilaterally indicate their intent to terminate all or some of their investment treaties — and some have already done so. Experience with the ECT may be a harbinger of what is to come. For example, in 2022 and 2023, several European Union (EU) Member States announced their intention to unilaterally withdraw from the ECT on the basis that the Treaty,²⁹ even if reformed in line with a modernization proposal, is inconsistent with urgently needed climate change policies.³⁰ The European Parliament and Commission have both adopted the position that the EU and its Member States should pursue a coordinated withdrawal from the ECT.³¹

Conditions and legal effects of termination and withdrawal from investment agreements

Termination of or unilateral withdrawal from an IIA is, in principle, the strongest way for a State to eliminate the risk of ISDS. It frees the State from treaty obligations and potential ISDS claims. The practical effect of termination or withdrawal from an IIA can be delayed if the treaty includes a sunset clause, which provides for continued application of the treaty's protections to covered investments for a specified period of time following termination (*see Sunset clauses* below).

Termination of an IIA typically refers to the unilateral or mutual end of the entire agreement by one or both parties. Barring any applicable sunset clause, a terminated agreement is without legal effect, and the parties are no longer bound by its terms. Termination can arise for diverse reasons, including a party's failure to fulfill obligations, the occurrence of

a specified event or condition, or a mutual decision between the parties. Withdrawal, however, is a specific action that one State takes to exit or discontinue its participation in an IIA. Withdrawal does not necessarily terminate the agreement, and the agreement itself may continue to exist between other parties. In the context of multilateral investment agreements, some States may seek to exit the treaty, while others may choose to remain parties to it.

According to the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT), the termination of a treaty: "(a) releases the parties from any obligation further to perform the treaty; [and it] (b) does not affect any right, obligation or legal situation of the parties created through the execution of the treaty prior to its termination."³² The same principle applies in the case of a withdrawal, and it takes effect at the moment the withdrawal becomes effective.³³ In the context of IIAs, if there is no sunset clause when termination or withdrawal becomes effective, States' obligations to foreign investors under the treaty cease to exist, while States retain obligations under customary international law and other existing legal instruments.

According to the VCLT, distinct legal grounds may justify withdrawal from or termination of agreements. Typically, bilateral (and multilateral) investment treaties contain termination provisions, which

detail the applicable procedure for the termination of the treaty and its legal consequences. While the specific wording and content of these provisions vary from IIA to IIA, they usually indicate the period of notification prior to the expiry of the treaty's validity, typically ranging from 6 to 12 months.³⁴ If the treaty does not have a termination clause, then other provisions of the VCLT apply. They include:

- Article 54 (b), which provides that withdrawal or termination can take place "at any time by consent of all the parties after consultation with the other contracting States";
- Article 60, which addresses the termination or suspension of a treaty's operation due to a material breach by one of the parties, providing a unilateral option for the aggrieved party when there is a substantial violation of the treaty's terms; and
- Article 62, which outlines the possibility of withdrawal or termination in case of a fundamental change of circumstances, unforeseen at the time of the treaty's conclusion, and recognized as affecting the essential basis of the consent of the parties to be bound.

These legal provisions offer a framework for States to withdraw or terminate treaties based on specific circumstances and reasons.

Withdrawing from Enforcement Regimes: Another way to remove or reduce the risk posed by ISDS

Besides IIA termination, States can also opt to withdraw from other agreements, such as the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes Between States and Nationals of Other States (ICSID Convention)³⁷ or the Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards (New York Convention).³⁶

The **ICSID Convention** is an international agreement under the auspices of the World Bank Group that establishes a global framework for settling investment disputes between contracting States and investors of other contracting States.³⁷ Member States Party to the

ICSID Convention agree to submit investment disputes to arbitration tribunals, resulting in the tribunal's being conclusive and enforceable. The ICSID Convention also facilitates recognizing and enforcing arbitral awards in Member States while incorporating a restricted annulment mechanism reserved for exceptional cases. As of 2023, there are 165 signatories to the ICSID Convention, 158 of which have ratified the Convention in accordance with their own constitutional procedures.³⁸

By withdrawing from the ICSID Convention, a State is no longer obliged to use ICSID's dispute resolution mechanisms for future investment disputes or to enforce ICSID arbitral awards. States may withdraw from the ICSID Convention by giving six months' written notice to the depositary of the Convention. After denunciation (withdrawal), the Convention continues to apply to investment disputes existing prior to the denunciation. In this respect, several countries have withdrawn from or never joined the ICSID Convention, including Bolivia, Ecuador, Venezuela, and Brazil. In 2007, during the Fifth ALBA-PTA Summit, Bolivia, Venezuela, and Nicaragua proclaimed their intention to withdraw from ICSID in order to guarantee their sovereign right to regulate foreign investment on their national territories and to reject "legal, diplomatic and media pressure" exercised by some multinational companies.

Importantly, withdrawal from the ICSID Convention does not extinguish the risk of arbitration entirely. IIAs, as well as domestic laws and investment contracts, may still rely on arbitration as a mechanism to resolve investor-State disputes. However, withdrawal from the ICSID Convention eliminates the option for investors to directly access investment arbitration under ICSID and the enforceability of investment awards.

The **New York Convention** is designed to streamline the global recognition and enforcement of foreign arbitral awards by national courts. As of 2023, the Convention counts 172 States Parties. It seeks to ensure that courts respect arbitration agreements by preventing access to judicial forums when a case is subject to arbitration. The New York Convention applies to the enforcement and recognition of foreign arbitral awards. However, each State may reserve the application of the New York Convention to arbitral awards arising out of commercial disputes. Whether awards rendered in the context of investment treaties qualify as commercial under the New York Convention will depend on the reservations made by States. Some national courts have concluded that investment treaty arbitration can be considered commercial for the purposes of the New York Convention.

Although no State has done so to date, any State Party may denounce the New York Convention by written notification to the Secretary-General of the UN. Denunciation takes effect one year after the Secretary-General receives such notice.⁴⁶

Similar to the withdrawal from the ICSID Convention, withdrawing from the New York Convention has the legal effect of rendering investment arbitration awards non-enforceable in the jurisdictions that are Party to the Convention. Thus, withdrawing from this Convention would impact the enforceability and recognition of arbitral awards in the signatory countries, potentially creating challenges in executing awards across borders.

States can terminate agreements individually and may even decide to terminate multiple agreements at once. 47 For the latter, States can terminate treaties through bi-, pluri- or multilateral agreements, although simultaneous termination requires coordination and agreement with other parties. As an example of a plurilateral termination agreement, in 2020, EU Member States decided to terminate all their 190 intra-EU bilateral investment treaties (BITs) through a single termination agreement. 48 This decision followed a determination by the European Court of Justice in March 2018 that investor-State arbitration clauses in intra-EU BITs were not compatible with EU law, specifically the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). 49 Coordinated action on IIA termination (or other coordinated actions such as in the context of interpretative statements, carveouts, or withdrawal of consent, see 1.2, 1.4, and 2.2 below) can be seen in other regions. For example, in Africa, States have worked together on IIA policy and recently negotiated the African Continental Free Trade Area Investment Protocol, which calls for the termination of existing intra-African BITs — including their sunset clauses — within five years of entry into force.⁵⁰

To date, one of the limitations on IIA reform has been the lack of coordinated action or approaches between States.⁵¹ Despite a growing consensus on the need for reform, current reform processes are fragmented, leading to different approaches and scopes.⁵² The varying mandates and priorities of different negotiating forums further complicate the coordination or integration of ISDS reform.⁵³

Treaty termination or withdrawal due to a fundamental change of circumstances

One of the ways States can justify unilateral termination or withdrawal of an IIA is by invoking a fundamental change of circumstances under the VCLT. This approach has garnered attention in public discussions and academic literature, with specific reference to its application in the context of the ECT.⁵⁴

Article 62 of the VCLT allows for the termination, withdrawal, or suspension of a treaty's operation in cases where unforeseen circumstances arise, leading to a fundamental change in the party's obligations under the treaty. Also known as the rebus sic stantibus doctrine, its purpose is to counterbalance the principle of pacta sunt servanda found in Article 26 of the VCLT, which holds that States remain bound by the obligations under a signed agreement as long as the treaty obligations persist.55 Article 62 of the VCLT places two limitations on the invocation of a fundamental change of circumstances, namely: "(a) if the treaty establishes a boundary, or (b) if the fundamental change is the result of a breach by the party invoking it either of an obligation under the treaty or of any other international obligation owed to any other party to the treaty."56

According to Article 62 of the VCLT, five conditions need to be fulfilled to successfully invoke a fundamental change of circumstances:

- (i) The change of circumstances must be fundamental in nature. This requirement implies an impactful change of circumstances preventing States from invoking any change as grounds for treaty termination. A "fundamental" change "must be an objective change in the factual circumstances relating to the treaty and its operation, and not merely a subjective change in the attitude towards the treaty of the party invoking the principle." Moreover, in its jurisprudence, the International Court of Justice (ICJ) considered "the traditional view that the changes of circumstances which must be regarded as fundamental or vital are those which imperil the existence or vital development of one of the parties." 58
- (ii) The "fundamental change" must apply to circumstances that existed when the treaty was concluded. In this context, the circumstances upon which the treaty parties based their consent are considered significant. The circumstances can be virtually any type, such as "factual, political, legal, economic, or social."⁵⁹

(iii) The parties did not foresee the change when the treaty was concluded (meaning when the final text was agreed). Article 62 of the VCLT stipulates that the fundamental change in circumstances argument may only be invoked if parties did not foresee the change at the time they established the agreement. While the Special Rapporteur on the law of treaties has talked about an objective change of circumstances, not just a change in how the circumstances are perceived, the criterion regarding foresight turns on what the parties subjectively foresaw, not what a reasonable party could have foreseen. ⁶⁰

(iv) The circumstances that have changed constituted an essential basis of the consent of the parties to be bound by the treaty. For a change to qualify as altering the circumstances that were an indispensable foundation of the parties' consent, it must impact the facts that led the parties to give their consent.⁶¹

(v) The effect of the change radically transforms the extent of obligations still to be performed under the treaty. The International Law Commission has not clarified what constitutes a radical transformation. Based on the plain meaning and connotation of the word "radically," the parties' obligations must be affected significantly or to a large extent. Addressing a State's argument in one case that a change of circumstances justified treaty termination, the ICJ noted that "[t]he change must have increased the burden of the obligations to be executed to the extent of rendering the performance something essentially different from that originally undertaken."⁶²

The provision's wording and previous jurisprudence indicate that the conditions stipulated in Article 62 of the VCLT apply cumulatively.⁶³

As of January 2024, no State has invoked Article 62 of the VCLT to terminate an agreement in the context of climate change. However, recent publications suggest that climate change could constitute a plausible basis for invoking Article 62 of the VCLT to terminate certain IIAs, particularly the ECT. 64

Article 62 depends on what the State or States in question actually foresaw and necessitates a treaty-by-treaty assessment. The arguments outlined below may not be universally applicable to all investment agreements. Instead, they necessitate an individualized analysis for each specific case. However, they can offer some insights into how Article 62 could be relevant to investment agreements amid climate-related changed circumstances, particularly those pertaining to fossil fuels.

Climate change presents an existential threat to humanity, jeopardizing the very existence of certain States. The escalating severity and rapid acceleration of climate change impacts exceed many prior projections, necessitating a reevaluation of the scale, types, and timing of required mitigation and adaptation measures.

For example, it has been argued that climate change was widely acknowledged as a risk during the negotiation of the ECT in 1994. Still, Parties' understanding of the extent of that risk and forecast of the nature and speed of necessary response measures has fundamentally changed since. 65 The 1990 IPCC report, which informed the 1992 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), outlined various greenhouse gas emission scenarios for 2025, contingent on government policy actions.⁶⁵ While the IPCC identified energy, and particularly fossil fuels, as the primary source of anthropogenic radiative forcing, it discussed various strategies for addressing climate change. Decreasing reliance on fossil fuels was just one option, among many others.⁶⁷ The ECT was drafted amid this context and cited to the UNFCCC in its preamble, with an apparent understanding that the promotion of fossil fuel production, trade, and utilization could align with the objectives of the climate Convention.⁶⁸

However, that assumption has since been proven wrong. 69 Climate science is now clear that the only viable approach to achieving the objective of the UNFCCC— "stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system" 70—is the rapid and substantial

abandonment of fossil fuel production and use.⁷¹ Recent assessments, such as the IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), underscore that climate change impacts are manifesting more rapidly and are more severe and imminent than previously estimated: "[t] he extent and magnitude of climate change impacts are larger than estimated in previous assessments."72 They also make plain that we cannot stabilize GHG levels and prevent catastrophic warming of 1.5°C or above without immediately halting the expansion of fossil fuel production and use, and accelerating the shutdown of existing fossil fuel infrastructure to ensure a steep decline in fossil fuel emissions.⁷³ To limit warming to a maximum of 1.5°C and reach net-zero global emissions by 2050, no new long-term oil and gas projects can be approved for development, and after 2030, a number of projects need to be closed before they reach the end of their technical lifetime.⁷⁴

The changed understanding of the potential compatibility of continued fossil fuel production and use with climate action, and the speed with which reliance on oil, gas, and coal would need to decline to achieve the UNFCCC's objective, could constitute a fundamental change in circumstances critical to the agreement of the ECT, which was arguably not foreseen by the Parties. The ICJ has previously held that "new developments in the state of environmental knowledge and of environmental law" cannot be said to have been completely unforeseen.⁷⁵ While the evolution of international environmental law and the emergence of new climate science could be anticipated, the fact that those developments would clarify the utter incompatibility of fossil fuels with a safe climate system and dramatically accelerate the necessary timeline for ending reliance on oil, gas, and coal may not have been foreseen by all Parties when the ECT was concluded.

Importantly, this change in circumstances has transformed the extent of the obligations still to be performed under the ECT. It substantially increases the burden on parties of satisfying their energy sector investment protection obligations, as doing so now comes at the expense of taking measures known to be necessary to protect human life and the environment

— namely, measures to rapidly end the production and use of fossil fuels. Performing the State's obligations under an investment treaty that protects fossil fuel projects is "essentially different" in these changed circumstances, because it conflicts with the duty and possibility to protect human rights and the planet. In fact, those incompatibilities have become so present that experts and authoritative institutions are increasingly pointing out the incompatibility of IIAs with climate mitigation measures. ⁷⁶

Furthermore, the impacts of climate change have proven to be more severe and occur earlier than initially anticipated. In other words, if the current circumstances were present when some IIAs — including the ECT — were signed, parties may have structured them with significantly different terms or not entered into them at all. In the context of the ECT, the fact that many States, even after having spent years renegotiating the Treaty's provisions, are terminating their participation due to its incompatibility with climate action illustrates this point.

Under customary practice and principles of good faith and transparency in international relations, States wishing to invoke Article 62 of the VCLT would be advised to cite a fundamental change of circumstances in their termination notification.

Sunset clauses and their neutralization

Sunset clauses — sometimes also referred to as survival or grandfathering clauses — guarantee that all investments made before the termination of a treaty continue to be protected for a certain period, typically ranging from 5 to 20 years beyond the treaty's termination or a party's withdrawal.⁷⁷ Sunset clauses create an "entrenchment effect" that can limit governments' ability to be released from their treaty obligations immediately.⁷⁸ Therefore, if a State terminates or withdraws from a treaty, it may remain bound by some or all of the provisions as contained in the treaty by virtue of the triggered survival clause. In the case of IIAs, survival clauses ensure the continued protection of investments made before the termination of or withdrawal from the IIA for a given period. Consequently, investors

can sue or submit claims before an arbitration tribunal under the IIA after its termination and within the survival period.⁷⁹ For example, Italy withdrew from the ECT in 2016 but was later involved in the ISDS case submitted by the UK Company, Rockhopper, regarding the ban on coastal oil drilling.⁸⁰

States can agree to terminate sunset clauses by mutual agreement before terminating an IIA. The neutralization of survival clauses in IIAs is not without precedent. For example, when Indonesia and Argentina reached a mutual agreement to terminate their BIT, they reportedly neutralized the sunset clause by mutual agreement before withdrawing from the treaty.81 In its termination agreement, the EU also removed the legal effects of the sunset clauses contained in any intra-EU BIT.82 By January 2024, no claims have been based on a neutralized survival clause, and no arbitration tribunal has thus been confronted with the question of jurisdiction under such circumstances. It, therefore, remains to be seen whether arbitration tribunals will uphold or reject jurisdiction because of neutralization, should such a situation arise. However, evolving practice indicates that neutralization is effective, as it manifests the will of the contracting parties and decreases the likelihood of success of claims for the investor when pursuing arbitration.83

In the event of a successful application of Article 62 of the VCLT (pertaining to a fundamental change of circumstances) to terminate a treaty, such termination would likely extend to the entire IIA or BIT, including any associated sunset clause. This termination would consequently relieve the parties of their obligations under the treaty. Notably, when a State invokes grounds for the termination of a treaty's operation under the VCLT, it can only do so with regard to the entire treaty. ⁸⁴ Therefore, applying Article 62 of the VCLT to terminate an IIA or BIT could also encompass any associated sunset clause, leading to the termination of such obligations.

1.2 Treaty Carveouts

Another potential avenue to preserve policy space for climate mitigation is to render measures aimed at reducing reliance on fossil fuels immune to challenges through ISDS. In the context of IIAs, excluding specific policies or investments in certain economic sectors from the scope of the entire treaty eliminates the possibility of these policies or investments triggering liability in either investor-State or State-State disputes. Carveouts act as limitations on the scope of a treaty. States aiming to avoid complete withdrawal from investment treaties yet seeking to safeguard specific measures or leave certain economic activities out of IIAs may employ mechanisms such as side agreements between treaty parties.

Because the term "carveout" lacks a universally agreed-upon definition, it is used inconsistently by various commentators and tribunals. Frequently, it has been treated as synonymous with exception clauses — provisions within IIAs that exempt States from liability for specific types of measures. However, the two are distinct. Unlike carveouts, exception provisions are considered affirmative defenses, the applicability of which is not addressed until a breach of a substantive obligation has been established. Relying on exceptions can result in arbitration-related costs and the potential for regulatory chill (see Adopting and Enforcing Exceptions, Right to Regulate, and Valuation Provisions). 86

In contrast, carveouts describe provisions that remove certain sectors or measures from the scope of coverage of the IIA or prevent ISDS claims regarding certain sectors or measures. They can usually be identified by language that excludes the relevant measures from the treaty's operation, by certain obligations that use phrases such as "does not apply to," or if the provision declares certain measures to be "exempt from the provisions of this Agreement." If a carveout applies, the host State cannot be liable under the IIA for any damage caused by such a measure or to an investor in that sector. Investment tribunals will need to determine whether the State's

action (or the investment) falls within the scope of the carveout provision. If it does, the tribunal will lack jurisdiction to hear the case, resulting in the dismissal of the investor's claim.

Carveouts can address all substantive standards of treatment in IIAs at once. One key advantage is that they are considered at the outset of any dispute, preceding the analysis of potential breaches of substantive obligations. This preemptive consideration avoids the need for evaluating the merits of an investor's claim, contributing to the swift and expeditious resolution of disputes.

Carveouts not only preclude ISDS claims from specific investors or against particular measures but also eliminate the basis for State liability to pay compensation. However, they do not strip investors of all avenues for recourse in cases of alleged harm or compensable injury by the State. Investors can still pursue claims directly in the domestic courts of the host State, akin to domestic investors and other entities, if they contend that the State's actions violate applicable domestic or international law.

Carveout design: sectoral or purpose-based

Carveouts can take a sectoral form, such as a fossil fuel carveout, or be purpose-based, like a climate change carveout. Each approach has its merits and drawbacks.

Climate change carveouts have the potential to exclude from the scope of an IIA, measures aiming to implement the State's duty to address climate change effectively. However, if too broad or imprecise, purpose-based carveouts may introduce ambiguity and face challenges. Some recent proposals have referred to the UNFCCC and/or the Paris Agreement in defining covered measures (e.g., "any measure linked to the objective and principles of, or commitment to, the UNFCCC"), 90 potentially leading to interpretive discrepancies and unnecessary complexity. Moreover, limiting a carveout to these agreements might overlook measures related to other concurrent State duties, such as human rights

obligations to prevent climate-induced harm, which may require more or different measures than do the international climate instruments. To enhance clarity, States could negotiate a non-exhaustive yet illustrative list of "climate measures," incorporating actions like reducing or eliminating fossil fuel exploration, production, or use.

Sectoral carveouts, particularly those targeting fossil fuel investments, may seem too narrow when considering the broader scope of activities that induce climate change. While fossil fuels are responsible for the overwhelming majority of planet-warming emissions, other sectors also pose climate risks. A potential approach could involve defining a carveout to exclude sectors with climate-destructive or emissions-intensive activities, citing specific sectors (e.g., fossil fuels) and concrete measures (e.g., reducing reliance on fossil fuels) as examples. Such sectoral carveouts, removing treaty protection for identified categories of climate-damaging investments, could be specific enough to ensure that investment treaties are not encouraging investments inconsistent with obligations under the Paris Agreement, human rights law, and international environmental law more broadly. Moreover, an added benefit is that a sectoral carveout extends beyond measures specifically designed to combat climate change. It could preclude challenges against any measure affecting fossil fuel investments, encompassing, for example, actions to curtail the adverse health impacts of fossil fuel production and use, as well as regulations addressing other human rights or environmental impacts.

A notable example of a proposed sectoral climate change carveout is evident in the agreement in principle for the modernization of the ECT (Revised ECT), where the EU and its Member States and the UK proposed to commit to exclude some fossil fuel investments in their territories from treaty protection. ⁹¹ The EU and the UK proposed to carveout fossil fuel-related investments from investment protection under the Revised ECT, including existing investments after ten years from the entry into force of the relevant provisions and new investments made after 15 August 2023 with limited exceptions.

While the proposed modernization of the ECT suffers from significant weaknesses, 92 it demonstrates the possibility of an agreement to carveout fossil fuel-related investments from investment protection and/or ISDS regimes.

States could think about potential strategies for optimizing the advantages associated with both sectoral and purpose-based carveouts. One possible strategy could be to adopt a purpose-based carveout framework, concentrating on measures dedicated to mitigating greenhouse gas emissions. This could be complemented by specific applications drawn from sector-based carveouts, ensuring that specific sectors, such as fossil fuel investments or other emissions-intensive industries, are explicitly excluded from the ambit of treaty protection.

Parallel to the concept of "carving out," States can opt for an alternative strategy by crafting new IIAs or amending existing ones to safeguard only specific investments. They can do so by constraining the agreement's application to certain sectors or types of investments, allowing States to proactively shape the scope and coverage of the IIA. The ECT is a prime illustration of this strategy, as it focuses on investments in the energy sector. This targeted approach exemplifies how States can employ sector-specific IIAs to ensure that only predetermined investments benefit from the treaty's protections and advantages.

Individual modification of treaties or a multilateral agreement

Various legally viable mechanisms exist for implementing carveouts in specific IIAs or across a broader set of IIAs. On an individual IIA basis, carveouts can be incorporated through renegotiation. However, this process can be resource-intensive and time-consuming, particularly when States are party to numerous IIAs at the same time. To address multiple IIAs simultaneously, States supporting the need to implement carveouts for climate measures or specific economic sectors can opt for a plurilateral treaty. Parties could then use the treaty to amend multiple IIAs simultaneously, provided that parties to the original IIA are signatories to the plurilateral

treaty. A similar legal architecture has been proposed to implement ISDS reforms agreed upon at the UN Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) Working Group III⁹³ and for the OECD Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting.⁹⁴

Ambitious States could lead such a plurilateral agreement, resulting in an opt-in mechanism that opens the door to new joiners. It would then produce legal effects between signatory States. In terms of content, such mechanism could contain (i) the carveout, (ii) the process to govern its application, and (iii) provisions that address its relationship with existing IIAs (e.g., stipulating that the carveout is automatically integrated into IIAs covered by the opt-in treaty and takes precedence over conflicting clauses in covered IIAs) to ensure its efficiency.⁹⁵

Implementing carveouts in IIAs can be further fortified by declarations or inter se modifications of conventions like the New York Convention and ICSID Convention. In these declarations, States could unequivocally express their commitment to (i) prohibit the conduct of arbitral proceedings within their territory when those carveouts are invoked and (ii) maintain a strict stance against enforcing arbitral awards that contravene those carveouts. These declarations or inter se agreements would underscore States' dedication to fulfilling their duties and protecting their sovereign interests within IIAs. Proposals for a new international legal instrument to coordinate the managed decline of fossil fuel production and use, such as a Fossil Fuel Non-Proliferation Treaty, 96 could incorporate such carveout provisions. Alternatively, it could include a protocol by which parties could exclude fossil fuel investments from ISDS under IIAs to which they are party, and/or withdraw consent to ISDS concerning fossil fuel-related investments or measures covered by the instrument.

1.3 Removal of the ISDS Clause

States can decide whether to include or remove the ISDS clause in their IIAs. In recent years, several countries have made notable decisions to terminate, renegotiate, or amend their IIAs to remove or modify the dispute settlement provision.⁹⁷

States commonly have various options to address the ISDS mechanism in their existing IIAs. A prevalent strategy involves renegotiation, where States amend the ISDS provision to better conform to their policy objectives or, in certain instances, remove the ISDS provision altogether. If renegotiation proves unsuccessful, States may opt to terminate the agreement. Another option is the negotiation of new bilateral or multilateral agreements, which can replace or override existing IIAs and introduce a different conflict resolution mechanism. In other cases, a State may unilaterally issue a declaration indicating its withdrawal of consent to the ISDS provision — but such actions can lead to legal challenges (see 1.4).

The legal ramifications of removing the ISDS provision from an IIA can be complex. Such a decision typically entails a loss of ISDS rights for foreign investors, compelling them to resort to domestic legal remedies in the home or host State, or alternative avenues like State-to-State action. However, the host State remains obligated to safeguard foreign investments under other treaty provisions. Investments and disputes that were already subject to the ISDS provision before its removal will continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of the original agreement. This means that the legal consequences of the removal, such as the loss of ISDS rights for new investments, may not retroactively apply to existing disputes or investments.

In instances where ISDS is embedded in domestic law, the host State's national legislation might explicitly outline the consent to arbitration in investment disputes, with national investment laws stipulating the conditions under which arbitration is a viable recourse. Additionally, ISDS provisions may be included in investment contracts, serving

as contractual clauses that establish the framework for resolving disputes between investors and host States. These provisions may cover essential elements, including but not limited to the scope of covered disputes, arbitrator selection, arbitration rules and procedures, the designated arbitration seat, and the applicable legal framework. Consequently, even if States opt to eliminate the ISDS provision from their IIAs, foreign investors may still invoke domestic laws that provide protection and incorporate ISDS as the preferred method for dispute resolution and investment contracts that contain ISDS provisions.

1.4 Withdrawal of Consent to ISDS

Investment treaty arbitration, like other forms of arbitration, is based on consent. In commercial arbitration, the parties consent to resolve their disputes before arbitration tribunals by including an arbitration clause in a treaty or national law. Under investment treaty arbitration, the signatory State to an IIA provides a unilateral offer of consent to arbitration through an ISDS provision, which the investor "perfects" with its consent by filing a claim. However, States can agree to explicitly suspend the application of the ISDS provision by withdrawing consent to arbitration. 101

This approach can limit or eliminate fossil fuel companies' use of ISDS. ¹⁰² States can withdraw their consent to treaty-based arbitration of claims by foreign investors bilaterally or multilaterally, just as they initially granted that consent by including an ISDS clause in the treaty. ¹⁰³ This withdrawal of consent can encompass claims related to measures aimed at reducing reliance on fossil fuels and the right of their nationals to bring such claims against the other State parties to a given IIA.

The Columbia Center for Sustainable Investment (CCSI), the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD), and the International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED)¹⁰⁴ have proposed an opt-in instrument to facilitate the withdrawal of consent.¹⁰⁵ Such an instrument could be adjusted by interested States to include claims arising

from measures to reduce reliance on fossil fuels. Importantly, although one party could unilaterally withdraw consent, coordinated State action would increase efficiency and clarify the legal and political meaning of such steps. ¹⁰⁶

In terms of legal effects, withdrawing consent to treaty-based arbitration does not lead to the termination of substantive investment protection and is not retroactive, applying only to claims not yet initiated at the time of withdrawal. Importantly, if investors file an ISDS claim before withdrawal, tribunals may find that mutual consent was established, rendering the withdrawal ineffective. Challenges to the withdrawal may arise, with a treaty counterparty contending that it violates the withdrawing State's treaty obligations.

Part II Reducing the Risk: Options to Mitigate ISDS Risks

Besides measures that remove ISDS-related risks, other options exist to *mitigate* those risks. Those options include adopting and enforcing exceptions, right to regulate, and valuation provisions within IIAs (2.1); adopting interpretative statements wherein the explicit clarification of treaty provisions can serve as a preventive measure against potential ISDS challenges (2.2); and the deliberate design of climate-related measures in a manner that minimizes vulnerability to ISDS claims (2.3).

Importantly, these mitigation measures are not mutually exclusive and can be implemented cumulatively. Furthermore, they can complement efforts aimed at eliminating ISDS risks, as discussed in Part I. By combining diverse strategies, policymakers have a versatile toolkit to customize the most suitable approaches and strategies based on the specific conditions of the State, including the existence, number, and status of fossil fuel projects, extent of foreign investment, and nature of its investment agreements.

2.1 Adoption and Enforcement of Exceptions, Right to Regulate, and Valuation Provisions

States can include various provisions and clarifications in their IIAs to safeguard their policy space. Those include exception clauses, provisions concerning the right to regulate or valuation, or references to the application of other international legal sources and obligations, such as international climate change, environmental, and human rights agreements (see 3.1). Those provisions and clarifications can be included either within the text of new IIAs or by amending older ones. In the context of new IIAs, States have the flexibility to negotiate and draft provisions that align with their (i) evolving policy priorities, (ii) interpretations of their concurrent legal obligations, or (iii) international investment objectives. For older IIAs, States can also seek to amend and update the agreements to incorporate these provisions. Amendments require mutual consent from the parties to the existing treaty and typically involve a process of negotiation and formal agreement to modify the terms of the IIA.

The provisions mentioned serve distinct but interconnected roles within IIAs. The right to regulate is a foundational principle acknowledging a State's sovereign authority to legislate and regulate in the public interest. 107 It is a broad and overarching concept that underpins the entire agreement, ensuring that States maintain their regulatory autonomy. Some IIAs acknowledge the right of States to regulate for legitimate objectives or public purposes, often found in the preamble or exception clauses. 108 While these provisions aid States in defending against investor compensation claims arising from regulatory actions that allegedly result in financial losses, 109 incorporating a stand-alone right-to-regulate provision does not replace more precisely circumscribed investor protections, such as carveouts or exceptions for States' regulatory conduct. The right to regulate is an inherent sovereign prerogative, regardless of its explicit mention in a treaty, and a general affirmation of this right alone may not sufficiently safeguard against overly expansive substantive investment provisions.

Exception clauses are specific provisions that clarify the scope of the agreement and exclude certain measures from the realm of ISDS. They are usually used to justify measures inconsistent with the treaty's substantive obligation and to insulate the State from indemnification. 110 Those provisions are often modeled after Article XX of the World Trade Organization's (WTO) General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994 (GATT) and Article XIV of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS). 111 However, in practice, contrary to carveouts (see above 1.2), exceptions clauses and right-to-regulate provisions are treated as affirmative defenses, 112 meaning that their applicability is not addressed until after a breach of a substantive obligation has been established 113 — leading to procedural costs and potential regulatory chill. Some tribunals have even interpreted exception clauses in such a manner as to eviscerate their effect.

Valuation provisions establish the criteria and methods for valuing investments and losses in cases of expropriation or other adverse actions. They are crucial in establishing how to determine compensation. Recent arbitration trends have been marked by a significant increase in compensation awards, with cases now involving large sums that can pose challenges, particularly for developing countries. 114 Valuation principles initially designed for expropriation disputes are now applied to a broader range of scenarios, departing from previously established international legal norms. 115 One major factor contributing to this trend is the growing use of projections of investments' expected future income, often calculated through the discounted cash flow method. 116 By including or reforming valuation provisions in IIAs, it is possible to mitigate the risks of excessive compensation awards and inconsistent treatment of claims. Options for designing or reforming the compensation provisions within IIAs include, for example, (i) capping compensation at the amount invested by the investor, (ii) combining compensation calculations with considerations of whether the host State benefited from the investment, or (iii) requiring the tribunal to apply the host State's law regarding compensation determination. 117

Furthermore, while provisions like the right to regulate, exception clauses, or valuation provisions can offer valuable safeguards for States in IIAs, they are not without limitations. One notable limitation is their susceptibility to diverse interpretations by States and international arbitration tribunals concerning their scope and application. Additionally, the effectiveness of these provisions in safeguarding a State's regulatory autonomy may hinge on factors such as the specific language of the clause, the prevailing legal context, and the approaches adopted by arbitration panels. In practice, the efficacy of the right to regulate and exception clauses may not always guarantee absolute protection against investor claims, as disputes may arise over whether a regulatory measure genuinely serves a public policy objective. This determination depends on the tribunal's assessment of a potential treaty violation. Therefore, while these provisions seek to balance investment protection and State sovereignty, their effectiveness can vary, and their application remains a topic of ongoing debate and legal interpretation.

2.2 Specification of Substantive Obligations to Protect Legitimate Climate Measures

States can delineate the scope of substantive obligations within IIAs to prevent ISDS tribunals from interpreting measures to decrease reliance on fossil fuels as violations of IIAs when applicable. As highlighted by UNCTAD, "Several countries have recently issued joint interpretations for existing IIAs and/or established joint bodies in their IIAs with a mandate to issue binding interpretations of treaty provisions. This can help reduce uncertainty and enhance predictability for investors, contracting parties and tribunals." ¹¹⁹

Interpretative statements can clarify the State's understanding of and the intent behind any treaty provisions. They can address the content of certain IIA obligations or the grounds under which there is (or is not) a breach of investment obligations. Interpretative statements can also clarify environmental provisions, exception clauses, or carveouts,

thereby constraining potential ISDS claims, influencing existing claims, and preserving flexibility for domestic policymaking.

For instance, in 2022, the EU and Canada developed a draft interpretative statement to elucidate certain aspects of the Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement's (CETA) investment chapter, an agreement between Canada and the EU.¹²⁰ The primary objective of such an interpretative statement was to secure the signing of the Agreement following significant criticism from civil society and concerns expressed by some EU Member States regarding the ISDS system.¹²¹ Later, the EU and Canada agreed to clarify CETA's aims "to support [their] common objective of climate protection" by preparing a text that clarifies certain provisions of the CETA.¹²²

While this later interpretative statement does not specifically address measures that reduce reliance on fossil fuels, it demonstrates that interpretative statements are a possible course of action by States to mitigate potential ISDS claims related to climate measures. As an example, CETA's joint interpretative statement has clarified that "[i]n light of the need for an effective and progressive response to the urgent threat of climate change, the Parties reaffirm that non-discriminatory measures of a Party that are designed and applied to combat climate change or to address its present or future consequences do not constitute indirect expropriation unless the impact of a measure or series of measures would appear wholly disproportionate in that it would be perceived as undeniably unreasonable in light of its purpose." 123 Additionally, CETA's interpretative statement also provides that the provisions of CETA's investment chapter "shall be interpreted and applied by the Tribunal by taking due consideration of the commitments of the Parties under the Paris Agreement and their respective climate neutrality objectives and in a way that allows the Parties to pursue their respective climate change mitigation and adaptation policies."124

Carveouts, exception clauses, right-to-regulate provisions, valuation provisions, and interpretative statements may have overlapping content or similar phrasing. The key distinction lies in their form: for instance, a carveout is directly integrated into the treaty text, identifying specific measures or investments excluded from the treaty's scope. In contrast, an interpretative statement is an independent document that complements, adds clarity, and reinforces the implementation and enforcement of the existing treaty text. In this context, interpretative statements can provide additional elucidation concerning carveouts, exception clauses, right-to-regulate provisions, valuation provisions, or references to the application of other international legal sources and obligations, such as those present in international climate change, environmental, and human rights agreements.

To be as effective as possible in the context of climate change, interpretative statements should be as comprehensive as possible and ideally mention specific examples of measures that would not breach IIA obligations. Moreover, when addressing climate change measures and responsibilities, it is essential to note that global climate agreements, such as the UNFCCC or the Paris Agreement, do not comprehensively or exclusively outline States' obligations regarding climate change. Solely referencing measures aligned with these agreements, therefore, may not cover all necessary actions. Concurrent duties under other legal instruments and bodies of law, such as human rights law, may require measures above and beyond those taken pursuant to the UNFCCC or the Paris Agreement. 125 Furthermore, arbitrators often lack the specialized expertise necessary to assess whether a climate change measure meets the criteria of being bona fide, posing a challenge in justifying a State's actions and finding a balance between investment obligations and climate change considerations. In light of these challenges, States can explore additional mechanisms to ensure or increase the effectiveness of interpretative statements. For example, States can include in their interpretative statements an obligation for the home States to intervene in ISDS proceedings to clarify the rightful interpretation of the IIA (*see* <u>3.2</u>).

2.3 Crafting Climate Measures to Minimize Vulnerability to ISDS Claims

IIAs typically impose similar sets of obligations upon host States. Examples include:

- (i.) The prohibition against direct expropriation of foreign investors' assets (i.e., by seizing the investments) or indirect expropriation (i.e., by a substantive deprivation of the value of an investment through one or a series of actions or inactions);
- (ii.) The obligation to provide investors fair and equitable treatment (FET), which is understood as an obligation to provide due process, to adopt proportionate measures, and to avoid actions that frustrate the legitimate expectations of investors; and
- (iii.) The obligation to avoid discrimination against foreign investors on the basis of their nationality, both against investors from third countries and from the host States' nationals.

While States investigate medium- and long-term solutions, they can concurrently work on an additional layer of protection to prevent or alleviate claims. Trade and environmental ministries within a State can work together, sometimes with the support of external experts, to carefully structure measures aimed at reducing dependence on fossil fuels — such as those phasing out or retiring existing facilities earlier than their designed operating lifespan, prohibiting future exploration, production, development, or export of fossil fuels, and/or raising the costs associated with fossil fuel production and utilization — in a manner that explicitly addresses and underscores their alignment with IIA obligations. This recommendation is grounded in instances where environmental ministries, operating independently from trade ministries, designed measures that, although legitimate, justified, and proportionate in principle, were susceptible to legal challenges by foreign investments due to coordination failures within governments. 126 Such examples underscore the necessity for effective cooperation between these ministries to ensure that environmental goals are met

without unintentionally exposing the State to legal vulnerabilities within the international investment framework – and to avoid entering into, or to exit from, investment and trade agreements that clash with existing environmental and human rights duties or otherwise compromise their fulfillment.

Additionally, while frictions between international investment law obligations and other competing climate-related obligations of States exist, unambiguously and structurally addressing investment treaty obligations within climate measures can discourage investors from bringing ISDS claims in the first place and/or reduce those claims' likelihood of success. Ensuring the transparency of any climate measures, referring to the human rights and environmental obligations to take such action, and demonstrating their equal application to all fossil fuel activities domestic and foreign¹²⁷ — decreases the likelihood, interest, or viability of investor claims. However, the latter can be proven to be imperfect because (i) clashes between investment law and climate action may be unavoidable, 128 and (ii) it is impossible to predict future ISDS outcomes well, as tribunals are not bound by precedent and enjoy discretionary powers to decide on the merits.

Key elements involve recognizing the interconnection between the urgent need to reduce reliance on fossil fuels in response to the climate crisis and the varied threats posed by fossil fuels to climate change, human rights, health, and the environment and demonstrating the proportionality of these measures in relation to climate change mitigation and human rights protection. These are key to showcasing that the measures or decisions adopted are well reasoned, respond to public interest, and are essential to serving a public purpose. ¹²⁹ Below is a noncomprehensive list of elements that could be emphasized within measures or decisions that reduce reliance on fossil fuels:

 The uniform or consistent application or effect of measures that reduce reliance on fossil fuels among foreign investors and between foreign and domestic investments in the same economic sector or type of activity.¹³⁰

- The adoption of those measures in a transparent manner, respectful of due process and procedural guarantees, including through open consultations.¹³¹
- The fact that such measures are required to comply with other international obligations such as climate change treaties, international environmental agreements, and human rights obligations.
- Scientific and international political support or consensus behind the measures, including the reports of the IPCC, International Energy Agency, or UN that substantiate the urgency, timeline, obligatory character, and proportionality of measures such as those undertaken by the State. 132
- References to fossil fuel companies' knowledge
 that these or similar measures to reduce reliance
 on fossil fuels would be taken or would need to
 be taken.¹³³

In the event of arbitration claims, these considerations can be brought up in State defenses, even if not explicitly stated in the fossil fuel measures. They may also be used to bolster the argument that foreign investors in the fossil fuel sector were aware or should have been aware that measures to reduce reliance on fossil fuels would happen and that States had a legal duty to take such measures.

Part III Responding to the Risk: Options to Challenge ISDS Claims

If measures proposed in Part I and II are not enough to prevent or discourage foreign investors from bringing ISDS claims under IIAs, States still have options to respond to those claims on the merits or even challenge the jurisdiction of the tribunal (3.1). Non-disputing parties can also appear in those disputes to clarify the interpretation of IIA obligations and commitments and potentially shape the dispute's outcome (3.2). Additionally, non-State

actors have multiple tools at hand that have shown to be useful or even necessary to address and confront ISDS-related risks, including within disputes (3.3).

3.1 State Responses to Investors' Claims

Investment arbitration tribunals are not obliged to follow the decisions of other tribunals and retain the ability to provide distinct interpretations of investment agreements. As a result, ISDS tribunals may deliver divergent decisions in cases involving similar measures. This underscores the rationale for the most protective course of action for States when implementing measures to reduce reliance on fossil fuels — namely, to preclude ISDS claims by foreign investors entirely, which can be achieved through structural changes discussed in Part I.

States can also discourage foreign investors from making ISDS threats or bringing ISDS claims through insulation mechanisms discussed in <u>Part II</u>. Nevertheless, if investors bring a claim, States can still respond to those claims and defend themselves or even challenge the jurisdiction of the arbitration tribunal.

This section presents a non-exhaustive compilation of arguments that may be available to States in the event of claims. These options encompass challenges to the jurisdiction of investment tribunals and arguments related to the merits of potential cases.

Challenge the jurisdiction of the tribunal

Jurisdiction is an essential precondition to an arbitration tribunal's ability to resolve an investment dispute between an investor and a host State. ¹³⁴ Determining jurisdiction relies primarily on the relevant legal instrument conferring authority upon the tribunal, such as an investment treaty, domestic foreign investment law, or an investment contract.

Challenging an investment tribunal's jurisdiction involves practical steps taken by States to contest the tribunal's authority over a particular dispute. States may present jurisdictional challenges by raising arguments that question the tribunal's competence to hear the case, often based on the wording and interpretation of the relevant investment treaty. These challenges can focus on issues such as the existence of an actual (legal) investment; the parties' consent to arbitration; or whether the dispute falls within the treaty's scope. In this context, States that may have withdrawn their consent, terminated or suspended the IIA, removed the ISDS provision, or implemented a carveout may challenge the jurisdiction of the tribunal if applicable.

Additionally, the tribunal must assess whether the party instituting the claim is a covered investor. Some IIAs impose criteria for investor eligibility, and disputes can emerge if the host State argues that the investor does not meet these qualifications. Finally, the investment tribunal must also assess whether the transactions that give rise to the claim qualify as a covered investment in the territory of the host State and whether the impugned State conduct is excluded from the agreement's coverage (see e.g., 1.2).

The legal effects of challenging jurisdiction are substantial, as the tribunal's final determination regarding jurisdiction can have far-reaching consequences, affecting the course of the proceedings and potentially the outcome of the case. If a party successfully challenges the tribunal's jurisdiction, it can lead to the dismissal of the case or the inadmissibility of certain claims. Conversely, if the tribunal rejects the jurisdictional challenge, it reaffirms its authority to proceed with the dispute. Therefore, jurisdictional challenges serve as a critical means of safeguarding the integrity and fairness of international arbitration.

Assert the State duty to regulate and harmonious interpretation on the merits

State parties to IIAs are bound by concurrent legal obligations under various international legal frameworks, and they can assert these obligations as part of their defenses in arbitral tribunals. The act of entering into an IIA does not imply that a State has relinquished, annulled, or silently waived its existing international commitments under human rights or environmental law. Some obligations

are, in fact, non-derogable. ¹³⁵ Consequently, when adjudicating investor-State disputes, it is appropriate for investment tribunals to take into account a State's simultaneous and concurrent obligations under international law. This includes recognizing the duty to safeguard human rights and the environment, including from climate change, through effective regulation of investors' conduct and encouraging a harmonious interpretation of these obligations. ¹³⁶

International investment law permits arbitration tribunals to draw on other legal principles. IIAs typically provide that disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the domestic law of the host State and/or international law. Some tribunals have even concluded that international law still applies if the relevant IIA is silent on the law governing the dispute. Furthermore, Article 42 of the ICSID Convention instructs tribunals to decide disputes in accordance with "rules of international law as may be applicable" in the absence of parties' agreement on the applicable law. 139

In practice, international environmental, climate change, and/or human rights law and obligations are likely relevant to many ISDS disputes, particularly in the context of fossil fuel measures.

Numerous international treaties play a crucial role in directly or indirectly addressing the complex issue of fossil fuel pollution, particularly in the marine environment. The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) focuses on minimizing pollution from ships, encompassing substances like oil. 140 The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)¹⁴¹ establishes a comprehensive legal framework for the oceans that obliges States to prevent, reduce, and control marine pollution, which arguably includes emissions resulting from activities related to fossil fuels. 142 The London Convention and Protocol¹⁴³ regulate the dumping of wastes at sea, including hazardous substances originating from fossil fuel-related operations. The Oslo-Paris Convention (OSPAR)¹⁴⁴ specifically addresses marine pollution in the Northeast Atlantic, encompassing pollutants arising from offshore oil and gas activities.

Additionally, the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)¹⁴⁵ emphasizes biodiversity conservation, indirectly contributing to mitigating the impact of fossil fuel pollution on ecosystems. Other treaties, such as the International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Co-operation (OPRC)¹⁴⁶ and the International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage (Bunker Convention),¹⁴⁷ offer measures to deal with and compensate for oil spills, further reinforcing the global commitment to addressing fossil fuel-related marine pollution.

In the context of climate change, the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement, taken together, oblige States, inter alia, to curb greenhouse gas emissions and take action to keep warming below 1.5°C. 148 Beyond the international climate regime, human rights law also requires States to mitigate climate change. It constitutes an independent source of State obligation to take measures to curb the production and use of fossil fuels, and the known driver of planet-warming emissions and resultant harm. The foreseeable and potentially catastrophic adverse effects of climate change on a wide range of human rights give rise to States' duties to take immediate actions to prevent those harms. 149 The UN Human Rights Committee (HRC) has recognized that "[e]nvironmental degradation, climate change and unsustainable development constitute some of the most pressing and serious threats to the ability of present and future generations to enjoy the right to life." The duty to protect the right to life requires States to take measures to prevent such foreseeable threats, 151 including by adequately regulating the conduct of corporate entities subject to their jurisdiction or control that causes or contributes to climate change and its foreseeable impacts on human rights. 152

As the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights warned in 2018, in the face of such foreseeable impacts, the failure of States to prevent foreseeable human rights harm caused by climate change could constitute a breach of their obligations. ¹⁵³ UN Special Rapporteurs ¹⁵⁴ and a number of UN Treaty Bodies ¹⁵⁵ have also repeatedly addressed this issue and called on States to limit fossil

fuel use and eliminate financial support for fossil fuel projects to mitigate the negative impacts of climate change on the full range of human rights guaranteed under international law, including the rights to life, health, food, water and sanitation, healthy environment, an adequate standard of living, housing, property, self-determination, development, and culture, among others. ¹⁵⁶ More recently, UN human rights experts urged States to accelerate the just and equitable phaseout of fossil fuels, warning about the immense magnitude of their negative human rights impacts. They also provided the following statement:

"To address the planetary crisis and tackle the wide range of fossil fuels negative human rights impacts, States must urgently decarbonise and detoxify. Wealthy States and high emitters should lead the phase out of fossil fuels, beginning with avoiding new investments and terminating fossil fuel subsidies. They should also provide financial and other technical support to developing countries to ensure a just transition to a zero-carbon economy. To successfully phase out fossil fuels will require strong international cooperation. States must fulfil their obligations to regulate the private sector and State-owned enterprises, to monitor compliance and enforce rules. This requires addressing barriers to climate action, including greenwashing, undue political influence, strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPPs), tax evasion and avoidance, business models not fit for the 21st century, and investor-State Dispute Settlement mechanisms that empower foreign investors to block or raise the cost of climate action."157

States can assert their prerogative to regulate and adopt other measures to reduce reliance on fossil fuels, not as an exception to investors' treaty-based rights, but rather as a pre-existing right and obligation that shall not be limited by IIAs.

Clarify legitimate expectations of investors in the context of climate change

Foreign investors affected by measures that reduce reliance on fossil fuels may argue that at the time the investment was made, the host State expressed support for the investment, that they expected some stability in the regulatory framework of the host State, or that they could not foresee such a change in the regulatory framework of the host State. 158 Such arguments are likely to rely on the notion of "legitimate expectations" of foreign investors and the "regulatory stability" of the host State. These concepts fall under the umbrella of FET obligations, which have been understood as obligations to avoid actions that frustrate the "legitimate expectations" of investors. This has translated into a requirement to maintain a certain level of stability and predictability in the regulatory framework upon which investors rely when making investments. 159 The notion of "regulatory stability" or "stabilization provisions" (the latter, usually included in contracts) suggests that an investor has the right to expect that a host State will not significantly alter the regulatory framework existing at the time of the investment or if changes occur, the investor will be compensated for any resulting loss of profits. While these provisions have sparked substantial debate due to their potential to limit a host country's regulatory authority in the public interest or compromise the protection of human rights, they nevertheless have been invoked successfully by investors in numerous ISDS cases under the FET standard. 160

Importantly, **the guarantee of stability is not absolute** as "[n] o investor may reasonably expect that the circumstances prevailing at the time the investment is made remain totally unchanged." ¹⁶¹ In fact, "except where specific promises or representations are made by the State to the investor," the latter may not rely on an IIA "as a kind of insurance policy against the risk of any changes in the host State's legal and economic framework." ¹⁶²

In light of the scientific consensus attributing climate change to fossil fuels and the impact of fossil fuels on human rights and the environment, and given the numerous political commitments made by States to address this global crisis, arguments asserting that regulations aimed at curbing the production or use of fossil fuels thwart an investor's legitimate expectations are increasingly indefensible. Regulatory measures targeting fossil fuels as the root cause of climate change have been foreseeable for years, with investors having both actual and constructive knowledge of imminent regulatory changes. 163 Major fossil fuel companies, cognizant of their role in contributing to climate change for decades, notwithstanding industry endeavors to obfuscate the impact of their products on global warming, 164 cannot assert ignorance. Policymakers have demonstrated a long-standing commitment to addressing the drivers of climate change, making it implausible for these companies to feign unawareness of the foreseeable regulatory responses to mitigate the adverse effects of fossil fuel activities.

Moreover, fossil fuel investments are exposed to a range of climate-related risks, encompassing physical risks, regulatory risks associated with the transition to a low-carbon economy, and the increasing liability risk stemming from the surge in climate litigation. 165 Indeed, known fossil fuel reserves and related infrastructure, such as pipelines and power plants, are increasingly at risk of becoming "stranded" assets 166 due to government regulation (e.g., emissions reduction limits, carbon prices, coal phaseout, removal of fossil fuel subsidies), technological innovation (e.g., increasingly available and competitive alternative sources of energy), changes in societal norms and consumer behavior (e.g., increased use of electric vehicles), increased scrutiny and pressure from investors, as well as litigation (e.g., legal challenges resulting in court orders preventing pipeline construction in Indigenous territories). Investors have had actual or constructive notice of the inevitability of these measures.

Like the assertion of a fundamental change in circumstances (see above), arguments and defenses related to investors' legitimate expectations are highly fact-specific and context-dependent. The success of any such claim or defenses against it will vary based on the specific timing of the investment and the impugned State action, as well as the conclusion of the IIA.

Review the valuation of fossil fuel assets and compensation owed

While reforms to valuation provisions in IIAs can alter how compensation will be determined and mitigate the risks of excessive compensation awards and inconsistent treatment of claims (see 2.1), States can also challenge the calculation of compensation owed in individual cases when a judgment is issued in favor of the claimant. Specifically, States can question how valuation and damages have been approached in light of climate change considerations and the value of fossil fuel resources. ¹⁶⁷

IIAs are largely silent on valuation. If not, they usually refer to the fair market value of expropriated assets without determining any applicable methodology. ¹⁶⁸ To fill this silence, tribunals often interpret compensation in light of the principle that "reparation must, as far as possible, wipe out all the consequences of the illegal act and reestablish the situation which would, in all probability, have existed if that act had not been committed." ¹⁶⁹ They also often include future lost profits, ¹⁷⁰ which can open the door to controversial, contested, and arguably speculative projections about future earnings.

A myriad of factors influence the present value and anticipated future returns of fossil fuel investments. State actions aimed at diminishing dependence on fossil fuels are not likely to be the sole determinant of a fossil fuel project's or company's performance. Growing physical risks from climate impacts, transition risks from regulations and market shifts to other forms of energy, and climate litigation-related risks are reducing the profitability of fossil fuel investments. ¹⁷¹ Changes in profitability include the deployment and growth of renewable energy offers

and demand or structural decline in demand for fossil fuels. ¹⁷² Banks and investors are also moving away from fossil fuel-related investments, increasing the cost of capital for fossil fuel investors. There is a strong case to be made not only that losses stem from a variety of causes, but also that fossil fuel assets, far from being a source of profit in the future, risk becoming liabilities.

States could also argue that from any claimed compensation owed or asserted future earnings, the tribunal should deduct the myriad of often ignored or unpriced costs that fossil fuel production and use impose on the public in terms of environmental, health, and climate impacts, as well as future closure and cleanup liabilities and remediation costs. By putting a present value on those externalized costs and accelerating those future liabilities, States can right-size estimates of the value of fossil fuel investments and earnings. When responding to asserted damages claims from investors, States can and should mention those structural, societal, financial, and economic changes that impact fossil fuel companies.

Furthermore, when addressing claims regarding loss of projected future profits, particularly by investors in the oil, gas, or coal industry, future economic scenarios and demand projections must not assume business-as-usual fossil fuel production and use. At the bare minimum, estimations of future earnings cannot assume constant or growing demand for fossil fuel products or fossil fuel-based energy/feed-stocks. 173 States may question investors' assumptions or estimates to push back against inflated claims by investors or minimize the "cost" of climate action to the State through ISDS. 174

Argue the necessity defense

States may also assert the necessity defense to respond to arguments alleging that measures that reduce reliance on fossil fuels breach IIA obligations. The necessity defense is part of international customary law and is codified under Article 25 of the International Law Commission draft articles on the Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (ILC Articles on State Responsibility).

Multiple States have invoked the state of necessity in ISDS cases, especially in the wake of Argentina's socioeconomic and political crisis in the late 1990s. The crisis led Argentina to take emergency measures that affected foreign investors. During this period, Argentina faced multiple ISDS claims.

According to Article 25 of the ILC Articles on State Responsibility, States must prove that the measure (i) is the only way for the State to safeguard an essential interest against a grave and imminent peril;" and (ii) "does not seriously impair an essential interest of the State or States towards which the obligation exists, or of the international community as a whole." ¹⁷⁸ The interest of the State acting out of necessity must also outweigh all other considerations upon reasonable assessment of all competing interests. To prove that a particular action was the only way to protect an essential interest against a grave and immediate peril, the first step is to determine what constitutes an essential interest, 180 which needs to be interpreted on a case-by-case basis and in light of specific circumstances and situations. 181 Importantly, States can invoke the ecological state of necessity as the environment is an "essential interest of the State." 182

Fossil-fueled climate change has major impacts on human health, livelihoods, and life, as well as biodiversity and ecosystem integrity, 183 which are essential interests of States. Those interests are in grave and immediate peril. In 2018, when the IPCC published its special report Global Warming of 1.5°C, temperature rise had reached 1°C above pre-industrial levels, and the world was *already* experiencing flooding from sea level rise, as well as heatwaves, droughts, hurricanes, and other forms of extreme weather that claim lives and destroy property and homes. 184 In 2022, when the IPCC published its latest report on the impacts of climate change, it warned that climate change was already causing "widespread adverse impacts and related losses and damages to nature and people" and severe loss and damage to human and natural systems including "irreversible impacts as natural and human systems are pushed beyond their ability to adapt." 185 Beyond their health impacts due to their contribution to climate change, fossil fuels are responsible for an estimated one in five premature deaths annually due to air pollution, ¹⁸⁶ chiefly the release of particulate matter (PM2.5). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that this form of pollution was linked to approximately 4.2 million deaths in 2019. ¹⁸⁷

The imminent danger posed by climate change is escalating, with heightened warming intensifying threats to fundamental rights. Each incremental rise in temperature exacerbates the damage and hampers adaptive measures. Warming "of 1.5°C is not considered 'safe' for most nations, communities, ecosystems and sectors and poses significant risks to natural and human systems,"188 especially for "disadvantaged and vulnerable populations." 189 Surpassing this threshold, even temporarily, would result in additional catastrophic and irreversible consequences. 190 The cumulative effects of surpassing 1.5°C, coupled with diminishing resilience, pose a significant threat to human rights.¹⁹¹ Consequently, climate change is increasingly recognized as a pressing and imminent danger. Scholars additionally characterize climate change as a menace to national security and State sovereignty, further underscoring its immediate and perilous nature. 192

It is not possible to protect such interests without reducing States' reliance on fossil fuels. To prevent further climate change and further irreversible damage to both people and ecosystems, it is clear that reliance on fossil fuels needs to be ended promptly. Measures that rapidly reduce the dependence on fossil fuels are essential for the State to protect its population, security, and sovereignty.

ISDS tribunals tend to adopt a stringent interpretation of the necessity defense. ¹⁹³ Tribunals may conclude that there are always alternative strategies to address different crises based on expert reports or comparative studies. However, as noted by Argentina in the *Enron* case, there will most likely always be an alternative, but this should not limit the possibility of proving a state of necessity. ¹⁹⁴

Moreover, the wording of Article 25 of the ILC Articles on State Responsibility requires that the measure "does not seriously impair an essential interest of the

State or States towards which the obligation exists, or of the international community as a whole." While some parties would defend its importance, foreign investment protection for a fossil fuel project does not hold the same level of indispensability as the protection of fundamental rights, such as the right to life, health, and a healthy environment, which are prerequisites for the enjoyment of other rights and interests. Furthermore, the absence of concrete evidence demonstrating that the foreign investment protection regime consistently delivers its claimed benefits weakens any assertion that safeguarding this system is an essential State interest. 195 Consequently, and depending on States' circumstances, any argument asserting that regulating fossil fuels impairs the State's essential interest in foreign investment protection may be difficult to substantiate.

3.2 Potential Actions by Non-Disputing State Parties

States that are a party to an IIA but are not a party to a specific dispute may want to participate as a non-disputing State Party (NDSP) in a given arbitration case to clarify the interpretation of IIA obligations and commitments and potentially shape the dispute's outcome. ¹⁹⁶ In recent years, tribunals have seen an increased number of States participating as NDSP in ISDS. ¹⁹⁷ By doing so, States participate in the protection of their interests and future actions and contribute to the development of a more robust body of tribunal treaty interpretation.

NDSPs can contribute their insights on interpreting the applicable IIA with the tribunal overseeing the dispute, primarily through NDSP Submissions. NDSP Submissions are useful tools that clarify IIAs' text and ensure that tribunals interpret IIAs in accordance with the intention and consent to which States Parties agreed. Those submissions can address IIA obligations and any provision discussed above, such as exception clauses, right-to-regulate or valuation provisions, or carveouts.

Such participation is allowed under numerous international treaties, including IIAs and arbitration rules. ¹⁹⁸ As an example, according to Article 5(1)

of the 2014 UNCITRAL Rules on Transparency in Treaty-based Investor-State Arbitration (UNCITRAL Transparency Rules), "[t]he arbitral tribunal shall, subject to paragraph 4, allow, or, after consultation with the disputing parties, may invite, submissions on issues of treaty interpretation from a non-disputing Party to the treaty." Similarly, pursuant to Rule 68(1) of the 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules (previously Rule 37(2) of the 2006 ICSID Arbitration Rules), "[t]he Tribunal shall permit a Party to a treaty that is not a party to the dispute ("non-disputing Treaty Party") to make a submission on the interpretation of the treaty at issue in the dispute and upon which consent to arbitration is based. The Tribunal may, after consulting with the parties, invite a non-disputing Treaty Party to make such a submission." NDSP Submissions can also be conditioned. As an example, according to Rule 68(2) of the 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules, "[t]he tribunal shall ensure that non-disputing Treaty Party participation does not disrupt the proceeding or unduly burden or unfairly prejudice either party." 199 To ensure this, the tribunal may impose conditions on the format, length, scope, or publication of the submission and set a deadline for the submission.²⁰⁰

States also possess the opportunity to strengthen collaboration on climate-related issues through alternative avenues, such as using interpretive statements (see above in 2.2) or by jointly agreeing to participate as NDSPs in investment treaty arbitration cases. This collaborative engagement may ensure that climate objectives and related obligations outlined in international climate agreements, human rights instruments, and environmental treaties are duly considered and respected within the proceedings of ISDS. It provides a platform for States to articulate their perspectives, offer expert insights on climate policies, and highlight environmental and public welfare implications. This proactive approach aligns with the broader global initiative to combat climate change and safeguard the environment and human rights. It emphasizes the significance of harmonizing investment protection with climate action, striving to strike a balance between environmental sustainability and the resolution of ISDS. To be sure, such collaborative efforts, while valuable, come with

associated costs in terms of both financial resources and time commitments. Participating as an NDSP and engaging in investment treaty arbitration cases demands financial investments and resource allocations to effectively present perspectives, provide insights, and contribute to integrating climate objectives within the proceedings.

3.3 Potential Actions by Non-Parties

Beyond the aforementioned arguments and tools, the active involvement and advocacy of non-State actors, including civil society organizations, think tanks, and other pertinent stakeholders, have emerged as central and effective in confronting the legitimacy challenges within the ISDS system. This engagement has played a crucial role in propelling ongoing international investment reforms and shaping contemporary practices, including by (i) raising concerning developments in the system, whether related to disputes or investment reforms; (ii) providing legal and technical analyses; (iii) increasing the visibility and accessibility of disputes to the public; or (iv) by submitting non-disputing parties (NDP) submissions. They also have raised attention to increasing incompatibilities between the investment law system and climate change action. This sentiment resonates with insights from an OECD working paper, underscoring that public opinion rejects the notion of private actors making decisions that impact the destiny of nations behind closed doors.201

ICSID Rules of Arbitration and certain provisions within investment treaties stipulate the authority of investment tribunals to consider NDP submissions in ISDS cases. NDP application conditions usually require that: (i) the submission assist the arbitration tribunal in the determination of a factual or legal issue related to the proceedings by bringing a perspective, particular knowledge, or insight that is different from that of the disputing parties; (ii) the submission address matters within the scope of the dispute (i.e., they are not able to introduce new issues); 203 (iii) there is a public interest in the subject matter of the dispute; and (iv) the NDP can demonstrate a significant interest in the ISDS dispute. 205

The majority of past ISDS cases where NDP have been involved touched upon some type of public interests, such as public health, environmental concerns, sustainable development, or the protection of cultural heritage, and have even involved communities that have been directly impacted by the investment project, or parties to parallel litigation proceedings. However, notwithstanding the clear public stake in the proceedings, tribunals are increasingly narrowing the interpretation of NDP admissibility conditions, making it very difficult for NDP submissions to be accepted.²⁰⁶

In the face of these increasingly strict standards for NDP participation, it is essential to recognize that NDPs often bring invaluable specialized knowledge and a distinctive public interest perspective to the proceedings. Their submissions can provide tribunals with a more profound understanding of complex issues, especially in cases involving affected communities, Indigenous rights, environmental, human rights, or public health considerations. This contribution elucidates the relevance and impact of investment disputes beyond the narrow confines of the applicable agreement and the investor's economic interests. In so doing, NDPs play a pivotal role in fostering a balanced consideration of arguments, introducing a broader range of viewpoints that may not be presented by the disputing parties alone. Ultimately, the involvement of NDPs in investment arbitration cases contributes to the transparency, accountability, and inclusiveness of the process, aligning it with broader societal values and expectations.

Conclusion

This toolkit is a living document that will be updated as legal precedent develops and facts evolve. The strategies and tools available above are neither exhaustive nor prescriptive. States and advocates navigating this space may find some arguments and avenues more appropriate or useful than others in certain cases or circumstances. Equipped with an understanding of available options to overcome ISDS barriers to climate action, readers can help accelerate the needed transition to a climate-safe, fossil-free future.

Endnotes

- IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Summary for Policymakers, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 10, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_SPM.pdf; IPCC, IPCC Report on Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage, Prepared by Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2005, p. 54, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/03/srccs_wholereport-1.pdf.
- Di Salvatore, L., Investor-State Disputes in the Fossil Fuel Industry, IISD Report, December 2021, pp. iii, 5-6, 8-13, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2022-01/investor%E2%80%93state-disputes-fossil-fuel-industry.pdf.
- Ibid., ; UNCTAD, Treaty-Based Investor-State Dispute Settlement Cases and Climate Action, IIA Issues Note, No. 4, September 2022, pp. 2, 4, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/diaepc-binf2022d7_en.pdf.
- 4. See e.g., Uniper SE, Uniper Benelux Holding B. V. and Uniper Benelux N. V. v. Kingdom of the Netherlands, ICSID Case No. ARB/21/22; RWE AG and RWE Eemshaven Holding II BV v. Kingdom of the Netherlands, ICSID Case No. ARB/21/42. At the time of publication, Uniper and RWE have withdrawn their claims and the tribunal discontinued the case. See Uniper SE, Uniper Benelux Holding B. V. and Uniper Benelux N. V. v. Kingdom of the Netherlands, ICSID Case No. ARB/21/22, Order of the Tribunal Taking Note of the Discontinuance of the Proceedings and Decision on Costs, 17 March 2023; Ballantyne, J., Uniper withdraws ECT claim, Global Arbitration Review, 21 March 2023, available at https://globalarbitrationreview.com/article/uniper-withdraws-ect-claim; Verbeek, B. J., Energy giant RWE withdraws billioneuro claim against the Netherlands, SOMO, 1 November 2023, available at https://www.somo.nl/energy-giant-rwe-withdraws-billion-euro-claim-against-the-netherlands/.
- Uniper SE, Uniper Benelux Holding B. V. and Uniper Benelux N. V. v. Kingdom of the Netherlands, ICSID Case No. ARB/21/22, Claimants' Memorial, 20 May 2022, paras. 33, 442; RWE AG and RWE Eemshaven Holding II BV v. Kingdom of the Netherlands, ICSID Case No. ARB/21/4, Request for Arbitration, 20 January 2021, para. 51.
- Westmoreland Mining Holdings, LLC v. Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 31 January 2022.
- Lone Pine Resources Inc. v. The Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/15/2, Final Award, 21 November 2022.
- Ruby River Capital LLC v. Canada, ICSID Case No. ARB/23/5, Request for Arbitration, 17 February 2023.
- TC Energy Corporation and TransCanada Pipelines Limited v. United States
 of America. ICSID Case No. ARB/21/63, Request for Arbitration, 22 November 2021; Alberta Petroleum Marketing Commission v. United States of
 America. Notice of Intent to Submit a Claim to Arbitration. 9 February 2022.
- Rockhopper Exploration Plc, Rockhopper Italia S.p.A. and Rockhopper Mediterranean Ltd v. Italian Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/17/14, Final Award, 23 August 2022, paras. 191–199 and 335(2)–(3). An application for annulment is pending.
- 11. IEA, Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, May 2021, pp. 21 51: "There is no need for investment in new fossil fuel supply in our net zero pathway. Beyond projects already committed as of 2021, there are no new oil and gas fields approved for development in our pathway, and no new coal mines or mine extensions are required. [...] [N] of fossil fuel exploration is required and no new oil and natural gas fields are required beyond those that have already been approved for development. No new coal mines or mine extensions are required either."
- ISDS proceedings are often kept confidential, with little to no access to hearings, memorials or awards. OECD, Transparency and Third Party Participation in Investor-State Dispute Settlement Procedures, OECD Working Papers on International Investment, 2005, pp. 2–3, available at https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/investment-policy/WP-2005_l.pdf.
- Meager, E., Cop26 targets pushed back under threat of being sued, Capital Monitor, 14 January 2022, available at https://capitalmonitor.ai/institution/government/cop26-ambitions-at-risk-from-energy-charter-treaty-law-suits/.
- United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, A/76/238, 27 July 2021, paras. 20–23.

- The impact of arbitration on regulatory change has been explicitly mentioned in the latest IPCC report: "Moreover, there are cases where international cooperation may be hindering mitigation efforts, namely evidence that trade and investment agreements, as well as agreements within the energy sector, impede national mitigation efforts (medium confidence)", IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Full Report, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 133, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_ WGIII_FullReport.pdf. In the same report, it is mentioned that: "Investment agreements, which are often integrated in FTAs, seek to encourage the flow of foreign investment through investment protection. While international investment agreements hold potential to increase low-carbon investment in host countries (PAGE 2018), these agreements have tended to protect investor rights, constraining the latitude of host countries in $adopting\ environmental\ policies\ (Miles\ 2019).\ Moreover, international$ investment agreements may lead to 'regulatory chill', which may lead to $countries\ refraining\ from\ or\ delaying\ the\ adoption\ of\ mitigation\ policies,$ such as phasing out fossil fuels (Tienhaara 2018). More contemporary investment agreements seek to better balance the rights and obligations of investors and host countries, and in theory offer greater regulatory space to host countries (UNCTAD 2019), although it is unclear to what extent this will hold true in practice", IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Full Report, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 1499, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/ downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_FullReport.pdf. Moreover, it has been acknowledged by arbitrators themselves. For example, Professor Philippe Sands stated recently in a Dissenting Opinion on the application for amicus curiae submission in Odyssey v. Mexico: "It is now well-recognised that investment treaty arbitration can have a significant impact on domestic regulatory regimes, even where compensation is the only remedy awarded. It is therefore entirely possible that a finding that the Respondent has breached the treaty could lead to regulatory changes which directly affect the interests of the Cooperativa, either immediately or in the future. The Majority's decision fails to recognise or take account of the broader impacts of investment treaty arbitration", Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. v. The United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/1, Procedural Order No. 6, 20 December 2021, Professor Sands' Dissenting Opinion, para. 2, $\textbf{available at} \underline{\textbf{http://icsidfiles.worldbank.org/icsid/ICSIDBLOBS/Onlinear}} \\ \textbf{at} \underline{\textbf{http://i$ eAwards/C8573/DS17216_En.pdf.
- 16. See Mirabile, M., Marchal, V., and Baron, R., Technical note on estimates of infrastructure investment needs Background note to the report Investing in Climate, Investing in Growth, OECD Background Note, 2017, p. 1, available at https://www.oecd.org/env/cc/g20-climate/Technical-note-estimates-of-infrastructure-investment-needs.pdf; OECD, Investing in climate, investing in growth, 2017, https://www.oecd.org/environment/cc/g20-climate/synthesis-investing-inclimate-investing-in-growth.pdf.
- 17. Investment treaties "have an effect on [FDI] that is so small as to be considered as negligible or zero", Brada, C. J., Drabek, Z., and Iwasaki, I., Does Investor Protection Increase Foreign Direct Investment? A Meta-Analysis, CEI Working Paper Series No. 2020-4, September 2020, p. 20, available at https://hermes-ir.lib.hit-u.ac.jp/hermes/ir/re/31356/wp2020-4.pdf. "[T]he empirical evidence on the basis of a meta-analysis suggests that the FDI promotion effect of [bilateral investment treaties] [...] seems to be economically negligible", Bellak, C., Economic Impact of Investment Agreements, Department of Economics Working Paper Series, No. 200, August 2015, p. 19.
- For further content see IISD, Client Earth, and CIEL, Joint Submission to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on Investment Agreements and Climate Change, March 2022, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/investment-consultation-v3.pdf.
- Di Salvatore, L., Bernasconi-Osterwalder, N., and Schaugg, L., Despite consensus on the ECT's incompatibility with the global climate agenda, claims that it is well-suited for the clean energy transition persist, Investment Treaty News, Vol. 12, No. 3, October 2021, pp. 16–20, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2021-10/iisd-itn-october-2021-english.pdf.
- 20. See Tienhaara, K., Downie, C., Risky Business? The Energy Charter Treaty, Renewable Energy, and Investor-State Disputes, 24(3) Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism and International Organizations (2018); Mehranvar, L., Sachs, L., The Role and Relevance of Investment Treaties in Promoting Renewable Energy Investments, in Ipp, A., Magnusson, A., (eds), Investment Arbitration and Climate Change, Wolters Kluwer, 2024, pp. 193–194, available at https://law-store.wolterskluwer.com/s/product/investment-arbitration-and-climate-change/01t4R0000PHLPOQA5

- Johnson, L., et al., Costs and benefits of investment treaties Practical Considerations for States, Policy Paper, Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment, March 2018, p. 15, available at https://ccsi.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/pics/Cost-and-Benefits-of-Investment-Trea-ties-Practical-Considerations-for-States-ENG-mr.pdf
- Bonnitcha, J., Phillips Williams, Z., Investment Dispute Prevention and Management Agencies: Toward a more informed policy discussion, IISD Report, January 2022, pp. 6–7, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2021-10/investment-dispute-prevention-management-agencies-policy-discussion.pdf.
- UNCTAD, Trends in the Investment Treaty Regime and a Reform Toolbox for the Energy Transition, IIA Issues Note, No. 2, August 2023, p. 2, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/diaepcbinf2023d4_ en.pdf.
- 24. At the time of this publication, efforts to reform aspects of investment policy and law are underway under the auspices of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (reform of IIAs), United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) Working Group III (ISDS reforms), the World Trade Organization (Joint Statement Initiative on investment facilitation), and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).
- To mitigate the risks posed by the investment regime to their regulatory authority, some States have sought to remove stabilization provisions in investment contracts or ISDS provisions in contracts and laws. See Mann, H., Stabilization in investment contracts: Rethinking the context, reformulating the result, Investment Treaty News, 7 October 2011, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2011/10/07/stabilization-in-investment-contracts-rethinking-the-context-reformulating-the-result/https://www.iisd org/itn/en/2011/10/07/stabilization-in-investment-contracts-rethinking-the-context-reformulating-the-result/; Nikièma, H. S., Maina, N., The Risk of ISDS Claims Through National Investment Laws: Another "Damocles sword" hanging over governments' COVID-19 related measures?, Q & A, September 2020, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2020-<u>09/isds-claims-investment-laws-en.pdf</u>; IISD, Reducing IIA Risks to Climate Change Rules Using Permits - The Purchase of Washington Gas $holds \, important \, development \, for \, permitting \, for eign \, investment \, without \,$ hampering the growth of climate change regulations, 30 January 2019, available at https://www.iisd.org/articles/foreign-investment-climate-
- UNCTAD, World Investment Report Investing in Sustainable Energy for All, 2023, p. 71, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/wir2023_en.pdf.
- Helfer, L. R., Exiting Treaties, Virginia Law Review, Vol. 91, No. 7, November 2005, pp. 1602–1606, available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/3649442.
- 28. lbid.,p. 1602
 - $See~e.g., Italy, {\it International Energy Charter}, Members~\&~Observers, avail-property and the contraction of the contraction$ able at https://www.energycharter.org/who-we-are/members-observers/ countries/italy/; Simon, F., Poland drafts law to 'terminate' controversial Energy Charter Treaty, Euractiv, 2 September 2022, available at https:// www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/poland-drafts-law-to-terminate-controversial-energy-charter-treaty/; Mathiesen, K., Spain pulls out of energy treaty over climate concerns, Politico, 12 October 2022, available at https://www.politico.eu/article/spain-pulls-out-of-energy-treaty-overclimate-concerns/; Mathiesen, K., The Netherlands to leave embattled Energy Charter Treaty, Politico, 18 October 2022, available at https://www. politico.eu/article/netherlands-leave-embattled-energy-charter-treaty-rob-jetten/; Mathiesen, K., France to leave Energy Charter Treaty, says macron, Politico, 21 October 2022, available at https://www.politico.eu/ article/france-to-leave-energy-charter-treaty-says-macron/: Investigate Europe, Germany plans withdrawal from Energy Charter Treaty, Euobserver, 20 October 2022, available at https://euobserver.com/ green-economy/156315; Avis relatif au retrait de la France du traité sur la charte de l'énergie, NOR: EAEJ2332955V, JORF n°0285 du 9 décembre 2023, Texte n° 88, available at https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/ JORFTEXT000048542663; Macek, S. R., Slovenia 'very likely' to withdraw from Energy Charter Treaty, Euractiv, 26 October 2022, available at https:// www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/slovenia-very-likely-to-withdraw-from-energy-charter-treaty/; Simon, F., Another blow for Energy Charter Treaty as Luxembourg announces exit, Euractiv, 18 November 2022, available at https://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/another-blow-for-energy-charter-treaty-as-luxembourg-announces-exit/; Moody, S., Denmark announces plans to exit ECT, GAR, 14 April 2023, available at https://globalarbitrationreview.com/article/denmark-announcesplans-exit-ect; Jones, F., Portugal announces withdrawal from the Energy Charter Treaty, Offshore Technology News, 21 July 2023, available at https://www.offshore-technology.com/news/portugal-withdraws-energy-charter-treaty/?cf-view. As of January 2024 ten EU Member States have announced their intention to unilaterally withdraw from the ECT.

- European Commission, European Commission proposes a coordinated EU withdrawal from the Energy Charter Treaty, Energy News, 7 July 2023, available at <a href="https://energy.ec.europa.eu/news/european-commission-proposes-coordinated-eu-withdrawal-energy-charter-treaty-2023-07-07_en; Haut Conseil pour le Climat, Report on the Modernization of the Energy Charter Treaty a Report of the French High Council on Climate, October 2022, p. 2, available at https://www.hautconseilclimat.fr/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/2022-10-19-TCE_HCC_END.gdf
- Ibid.; European Parliament resolution of 24 November 2022 on the outcome of the modernisation of the Energy Charter Treaty, 2022/2934(RSP), paras. 17–21; Gijs, C., Di Sario, F., and Mathiesen, K., Brussels backtracks: EU prepares to quit dirty energy club, Politico, 7 February 2023, available at https://www.politico.eu/article/europe-an-union-quit-dirty-energy-treaty-commission-climate-goals/
- VCLT, Article 70(1).
- 33. VCLT, Article 70(2).
- This prior notification period for the termination of a IIA can serve as a warning sign allowing the other Contracting Party to take the necessary steps to inform its investors about the upcoming termination of the IIA, who in turn can prepare for the consequences of the termination for their investments in the other Contracting Party. As an example, the Indian Model BIT 2015 provides for a unilateral termination of the treaty at any time with 12 months' notice: "This Treaty shall remain in force for a period of ten years and shall lapse thereafter unless the Parties expressly agree in writing that it shall be renewed. This Treaty may be terminated anytime after its entry into force if either Party gives to the other Party a prior notice in writing twelve (12) months in advance stating its intention to terminate the Treaty. The Treaty shall stand terminated immediately after the expiry of the twelve (12) month notice period", Indian Model BIT, 2015, Article 38.2. The Canadian Model BIT 2004 provides for a flexible approach, without fixed terms and with the possibility of unilateral termination at any time: "This Agreement shall remain in force unless either Party notifies the other Party in writing of its intention to terminate it. The termination of this Agreement shall become effective one year after notice of termination has been received by the other Party. [...]", Canadian Model BIT, 2004, Article 52.3.
- Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes Between States and Nationals of Other States, 18 March 1965, 575 U.N.T.S 159.
- Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards. 7 June 1959, 330 U.N.T.S 3.
- 37. ICSID Convention, Article 1.
- ICSID, About ICSID Database of ICSID Member States, available at https://icsid.worldbank.org/about/member-states/database-of-member-states (last visited 9 November 2023).
- 39. ICSID Convention, Article 71.
- 40. ICSID Convention, Article 72.
- 41. Committee for the Abolition of Illegitimate Debt, *Bolivia, Venezuela and Nicaragua withdraw* together from the ICSID, 2 May 2007, available at http://www.cadtm.org/Bolivia-Venezuela-and-Nicaragua.
- **42.** New York Arbitration Convention, Contracting States List of Contracting States, available at https://www.newyorkconvention.org/list+of+contracting+states (last visited 9 November 2023).
- 43. New York Convention, p. 1.
- 44. New York Convention, Article 1.
- 45. Republic of Argentina v. BG Group PLC, 134 S Ct 1198, 5 March 2014; Calamita, J., UNCITRAL Working Group III Debate: Enforceability of awards by an appellate mechanism or an investment court under the ICSID and New York Conventions, Investment Treaty News, 19 March 2020, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2020/03/10/uncitral-working-group-iiidebate-enforceability-of-awards-by-an-appellate-mechanism-or-aninvestment-court-under-the-icsid-and-new-york-conventions-jansencalamita/.
- 16. New York Convention, Article XIII.
- 47. Unilateral terminations are not rare. As an example, Ecuador unilaterally terminated 26 BITs in 2008, 2011, and 2017. Bernasconi-Osterwalder, N., et al., Terminating a Bilateral Investment Treaty, IISD Best Practices Series, March 2020, p. 7, available at https://www.iisd.org/publications/guide/ iisd-best-practices-series-terminating-bilateral-investment-treaty.
- Agreement for the termination of Bilateral Investment Treaties between the Member States of the European Union, SN/4656/2019/INIT, 29 May 2020.
- Slowakische Republik v Achmea BV, Judgment of the Court (Grand Chamber) of 6 March 2018.
- O. Seventh Extraordinary Session of the Specialized Technical Committee on Justice and Legal Affairs (Experts Meeting), Draft Protocol to the Agreement Establishing the African Continental Free Trade Area on Investment, January 2023, Accra, Ghana, available at https://www.bilaterals.org/IMG/pdf/en_-graft_protocol_of_the_afcfta_on_investment.pdf; Mbengue, M. M., et al., The Protocol on Investment to the Agreement Establishing the African Continental Free Trade Area: What's in it and what's next for the Continent?, Investment Treaty News, 1 July 2023, available at https://www.bilaterals.org/itn/en/2023/07/01/the-protocol-on-investment-to-the-agreement-establishing-the-african-continental-free-trade-area-whats-in-it-and-whats-next-for-the-continent/.

- See IISD, Client Earth, and CIEL, Joint Submission to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on Investment Agreements and Climate Change, March 2022, para. 31, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/investment-consultation-v3.pdf.
- Ibid, para. 19.
- 53. Ibid, para. 21.
- 54. See for e.g., Morgandi T., Bartels L., Exiting the Energy Charter Treaty under the law of treaties, King's Law Journal, 2023, 18 April 2023, available at https://papers.ssm.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4411103; Ali, R., VCLT's Article 62: A valid basis for withdrawing from the ECT, IISD Investment Treaty News, 26 December 2022, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2022/12/26/vclts-article-62-a-valid-basis-for-withdrawing-from-the-ect-raza-ali/.
- 55. VCLT, Article 26.
- 56. VCLT, Article 62 (2).
- Fitzmaurice, G. G., Second Report on the Law of Treaties, Special Rapporteur, UN Doc. A/CN.4/107, Vol. II, 1957, p. 32.
- 58. Fisheries Jurisdiction case (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland v. Iceland), Judgment I.C.J. Reports 1973, 2 February 1973, para. 38. It was in response to the Iceland's argument that the "ever-increasing exploitation of the fishery resources" and the danger of its furthering caused them to terminate the treaty with the United Kingdom which delineates the territorial sea, due to the "exceptional dependence of that country on its fishing for its existence and economic development.", Fisheries Jurisdiction case (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland v. Iceland), Judgment I.C.J. Reports 1973, 2 February 1973, paras. 35–37. Based on this characterization, the circumstances would be considered as fundamental if they threaten the existence or vital development of a State party to the contested treaty. See also Árnadóttir, S., Fundamental Change of Circumstances, Chapter in Climate Change and Maritime Boundaries: Legal Consequences of Sea Level Rise, Cambridge University Press, 2021, pp. 168–219, available at https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009047906.006.
- 59. See Fitzmaurice, G. G., Second Report on the Law of Treaties, Special Rapporteur, UN Doc. A/CN. 4/107, Vol. II, 1957, pp. 32–33; Árnadóttir, S., Fundamental Change of Circumstances, Chapter in Climate Change and Maritime Boundaries: Legal Consequences of Sea Level Rise, Cambridge University Press, 2021, pp. 168–219, available at https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009047906.006.
- 60. Fitzmaurice, G. G., Second Report on the Law of Treaties, Special Rapporteur, UN Doc. A/CN.4/107, Vol. II, 1957, p. 33. "Therefore, it seems that the ability for State Representatives, or the parties negotiating a treaty, to foresee a fundamental change of circumstances would not suffice to prevent the application of rebus sic stantibus. VCLT Article 62(1) seems to necessitate actual awareness that the fundamental change will occur, although the level of accuracy required is unclear", Árnadóttir, S., Termination of Maritime Boundaries Due to a Fundamental Change of Circumstances, Utrecht Journal of International and European Law, Vol. 32, No. 83, 2016, p. 100, available at https://utrechtjournal.org/articles/10.5334/ uiiel.335.
- See Árnadóttir, S., Termination of Maritime Boundaries Due to a Fundamental Change of Circumstances, Utrecht Journal of International and European Law, Vol. 32, No. 83, 2016, p. 100, available at https://utrechtjournal.org/articles/10.5334/ujiel.335.
- Fisheries Jurisdiction Case (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland v. Iceland), Judgment I.C.J. Reports 1973, 2 February 1973, para. 43.
- 63. Klabbers, J., A Moral Holiday: Withdrawal from the Energy Charter Treaty, in Casolari, F., et al. (eds), University of Helsinki, ESIL Reflections, Vol. 11, No. 6, 15 December 2022, p. 5, available at https://esil-sedi.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/ESIL-Reflection-Klabbers-VOL.11.6.pdf.
- 64. See for e.g., Morgandi T., Bartels L., Exiting the Energy Charter Treaty under the law of treaties, King's Law Journal, 2023, 18 April 2023, available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4411103; Ali, R., VCLT's Article 62: A valid basis for withdrawing from the ECT, IISD Investment Treaty News, 26 December 2022, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2022/12/26/vclts-article-62-a-valid-basis-for-withdrawing-from-the-ect-raza-ali/.
- See for e.g., Morgandi T., Bartels L., Exiting the Energy Charter Treaty under the law of treaties, King's Law Journal, 2023, 18 April 2023, available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4411103.
- 66. IPCC, Climate Change: The IPCC 1990 and 1992 Assessments, IPCC First Assessment Report Overview and Policymaker Summaries and 1992 IPCC Supplement, June 1992, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/05/ipcc_90_92_assessments_far_full_report.pdf.
- 67. IPCC, Climate Change: The IPCC 1990 and 1992 Assessments, IPCC First Assessment Report Overview and Policymaker Summaries and 1992 IPCC Supplement, June 1992, p. 29, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/05/ipcc_90_92_assessments_far_full_report.pdf, discussed in Morgandi, T., Bartels, L., Exiting the Energy Charter Treaty under the law of treaties, King's Law Journal, Vol. 34, 30 March 2023, available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4411103.
- Morgandi, T., Bartels, L., Exiting the Energy Charter Treaty under the law of treaties, King's Law Journal, Vol. 34, 30 March 2023, p. 18, available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4411103.

- 69. Ibid.
- 70. UNFCCC. Art. 2.
- IPCC, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Technical Summary [hereinafter IPCC AR6 WGIII TS], pp. 85, 89, 90, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/.
- IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Summary for Policymakers, 2022, p. 9, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/.
- 73. The IPCC has found that projected emissions from existing fossil fuel infrastructure alone will exceed the remaining carbon budget to limit warming to 1.5°C. IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)], at SPM, B.5, B.5.3, B.6; IPCC AR6 SYR SPM, at C.3, C.3.1, C.3.2; see also IPCC AR6 WGIII, Mitigation of Climate Change, at TS.3, p. 68
- 74. International Energy Agency, Special Report on the Oil and Gas Industry in Net Zero Transitions, 2023, pp. 14, 19, available at https://www.iea.org/reports/the-oil-and-gas-industry-in-net-zero-transitions:International Energy Agency, World Energy Outlook 2021 (2021), p. 100, available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021; see also IPCC AR6 WGIII, Box TS.8, at p. 90: "Without early retirements, or reductions in utilisation, the current fossil infrastructure will emit more GHGs than is compatible with limiting warming to 1.5°C".
- Case concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary v. Slovakia), Judgment I.C.J. Reports 1997, 25 September 1997, para. 104.
- IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Full Report, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 1454: "Moreover, there are cases where international cooperation may be hindering mitigation efforts, namely evidence that trade and investment agreements, as well as agreements within the energy sector, impede national mitigation efforts", available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/ IPCC_AR6_WGIII_SPM.pdf; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment, David R. Boyd - The human right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment: a catalyst for accelerated action to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, A/77/284, 10 August 2022, para. 80(j): "To fulfill their human rights obligations and achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, States should [...] [n] egotiate the removal of investor-State dispute settlement mecha $nisms \ from \ international \ trade \ and \ investment \ agreements \ or \ terminate \ the$ agreements (because such mechanisms constrain States from taking immediate and effective action to address the climate crisis, biodiversity loss and pollution)"; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change, Promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change mitigation, loss and damage and participation, A/77/226, 26 July 2022, para. 15: "States must take substantive measures to limit emissions of greenhouse gasses and mitigate climate change, including through regulatory measures, in order to protect all persons from human rights harms. Urgent and drastic action is required by States and business enterprises to reduce their emissions. The Secretary-General stated in 2022 that high emitting Governments and corporations are not just turning a blind eye, they are adding fuel to the flames. This is exemplified by the fact that fossil fuel producers are using investor-State dispute settlements within the Energy Charter Treaty to sue States for compensation if they take positive policy actions to reduce the use of fossil fuels."
- 77. In 2020, IISD briefly examined this issue as part of a series of best practices concerning the termination of BITs. At that time, it was found that only around 3% of the treaties listed by UNCTAD contained no survival clause. The remaining treaties included survival clauses with varying survival periods. Specifically, in 56% of the treaties studied by UNCTAD, the survival clause had a duration of 10 years, while in 20% of the treaties, this period was 15 years. In addition, 15% of the treaties mapped had survival clauses of 20 years, and 3% of treaties had a survival clause of 5 years, Bernasconi–Osterwalder, N., et al., Terminating a Bilateral Investment Treaty, IISD Best Practices Series, March 2020, p. 4, available at https://www.iisd-org/publications/guide/iisd-best-practices-series-terminating-bilateral-investment-treaty.
- Valerio, L., The EU Termination Agreement and Sunset Clauses: No 'Survivors' on the (Intra-EU) Battlefield?, Kluwer Arbitration Blog, 22 June 2022, available at https://arbitration.com/2022/06/22/ the-eu-termination-agreement-and-sunset-clauses-no-survivors-on-the-intra-eu-battlefield/.

- 79. Moreover, there may be uncertainties regarding the characterization of an "existing investment" at the point of termination, especially when the invested activity encompasses various stages or phased approvals, such as the licensing process for exploration and production in the fossil fuel sector. The understanding of what constitutes an investment and its temporal aspects may impact the application of the sunset clause on subsequent investment activities occurring after the termination. For instance, it could influence activities like obtaining a production license or developing hydrocarbon resources subsequent to an investment made in exploration before termination. Although a detailed exploration of these matters falls beyond the purview of this toolkit, acknowledging them in advance could enhance State interpretations of sunset clauses and their responses to potential investor claims.
- 80. See Energy Charter Treaty website, Italy, accessed 12 January 2024, at https://www.energycharter.org/who-we-are/members-observers/countries/italy/; see also, Rockhopper Italia S.p.A., Rockhopper Mediterranean Ltd, and Rockhopper Exploration Plc v. Italian Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/17/14.
- 81. Peterson, L. E., Indonesia ramps up termination of BITs and kills survival clause in one such treaty but faces new \$600 mil. Claim from Indian mining investor, Bilaterals, 20 November 2015, available at https://www.bilaterals.org/?indonesia-ramps-up-termination-of&lang=en.
- 82. Annexe A of the Treaty provides a list of BITs that will be terminated once the Treaty enters into force as provided by its Article 2. Sunset clauses of BITs of Annexe A will also be terminated and thereafter will "not produce legal effects". Annexe B provides a list of BITs that have already been terminated. Article 3, on its turn, establishes that sunset clauses contained in those BITs will "be left without effect". Agreement for the termination of Bilateral Investment Treaties between the Member States of the European Union, SN/4656/2019/INIT. 29 May 2020, Annex A and B.
- 83. Bernasconi-Osterwalder, N., Energy Charter Treaty Reform: Why withdrawal is an option, Investment Treaty News, 24 June 2021, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2021/06/24/energy-charter-treaty-reformwhy-withdrawal-is-an-option/.
- 84. VCLT, Article 44.2.
- Paine, J., Sheargold, E., A Climate Change Carve-Out for Investment Treaties, Journal of International Economic Law, Vol. 26, No. 2, June 2023, available at https://academic.oup.com/jiel/article/26/2/285/7071568#404981065.
- 86. Ibid.
- Ibid.; UNCTAD, Investment Policy Framework for Sustainable Development, UNCTAD/DIAE/PCB/2015/5, 2015, p. 94, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/diaepcb2015d5_en.pdf.
- See e.g., Free Trade Agreement between Canada and Panama, 14 Mai 2010, Chapter 23.
- See e.g., Agreement between Canada and the Slovak Republic for the Promotion and Protection of Investments, 20 July 2010, Article IX.7.
- See IISD, Client Earth, and CIEL, Joint Submission to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on Investment Agreements and Climate Change, March 2022, para. 44, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/investment-consultation-v3.pdf
- 91. See Revised ECT, Annex NI.
- 92. De Anzizu, H., Schaugg, L., and Van den Berghe, A., The New Energy Charter Treaty in Light of The Climate Emergency, Jus Mundi, 6 July 2022, available at https://blog.jusmundi.com/the-new-energy-charter-treaty-in-light-of-the-climate-emergency%e2%80%af/; Schaugg, L., Brewin, S., Uncertain Climate Impact and Several Open Questions: An analysis of the proposed reform of the Energy Charter Treaty, IISD Report, October 2022, p. 13, available at https://www.iisd.org/publications/report/energy-charter-treaty-agreement-analysis.
- 93. Kaufmann-Kohler, G., Potestà, M., Can the Mauritius Convention serve as a model for the reform of Investor-State arbitration in connection with the introduction of a permanent investment tribunal or an appeal mechanism? Analysis and Roadmap, Center for International Dispute Settlement Report, 2016, paras. 222-234, available at https://www.cids.ch/images/Documents/CIDS_First_Report_ISDS_2015.pdf.
- 94. OECD, Developing a Multilateral Instrument to Modify Bilateral Tax Treaties, Action 15–2015 Final Report, OECD/G20 Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project, pp. 31–37, available at http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264241688-en; Wolfgang, A., The OECD Multilateral Tax Instrument: A Model for Reforming the International Investment Regime?, Brooklyn Journal of International Law, Vol. 45, No. 1, 27 December 2019, p. 74, available at https://brooklynworks.brooklaw.edu/bjil/vol45/iss1/1/.
- 95. See examples discussed in UNCTAD, International Investment in Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation – Trends and Policy Developments, UNCTAD/DIAE/INF/2022/2, 2022, p. 21, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/diaeinf2022d2_en.pdf (discussing the potential for a multilateral instrument to make IIAs climate-responsive).
- See Fossil Fuel Non-Proliferation Treaty Initiative, The Paris Agreement doesn't mention fossil fuels - The COP27 outcome didn't mention oil and gas - It's time for a Fossil Fuel Non-Proliferation Treaty, available at https://fossilfueltreaty.org/.

- 97. South Africa has taken steps to terminate many of its BITs with various countries. In 2012, it announced its intention to terminate a number of BITs, and it has been gradually taking measures to do so. One of the reasons cited for this move was concerns over the ISDS system and its perceived limitations on the ability of the government to regulate in the public interest. See UNCTAD, Speaking notes for Minister at the Discussion of UNCT-AD's Investment Policy Framework for Sustainable Development (IPFSD), Geneva Switzerland, 24 September 2012, pp. 4–5, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/non-official-document/tdb59staDavies_en.pdf. In the process of renegotiating the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), the US-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA) introduced changes to the ISDS provision. USMCA, Chapter 31; Hart, N. M., Enforcing International Trade Obligations in USMCA: The State-State Dispute Settlement Mechanism, Congressional Research Service, 3 January 2020, p. 1, available at https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF11399.
- Steingruber, A. M., Consent in International Arbitration, Oxford International Arbitration Series, 2012, p. 8, available at https://global.oup.com/academic/product/consent-in-international-arbitration-9780199698158?cc=ch&lang=en&.
- 99. lbid,, pp. 27-30.
- Porterfield, M. C., Aron Broches and the Withdrawal of Unilateral Offers of Consent to Investor-State Arbitration, Investment Treaty News, 11 August 2014, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2014/08/11/aron-brochesand-the-withdrawal-of-unilateral-offers-of-consent-to-investor-state-arbitration/.
- CCSI, IIED, and IISD, Draft Treaty Language: Withdrawal of Consent to Arbitrate and Termination of International Investment Agreements, 15 July 2019, p. 2, available at https://www.iisd.org/sites/default/files/uploads/uncitral-submission-termination-withdrawal-en.pdf.
- 102. Fauteux, P., Investor State Dispute Settlement and Climate Change-Who Protects the Public Interest?, Canadian Arbitration and Mediation Journal, Vol. 30, No. 2, 2021, p. 18, available at https://canlii.ca/t/tcr9.
- 103. CCSI, IIED, and IISD, Draft Treaty Language: Withdrawal of Consent to Arbitrate and Termination of International Investment Agreements, 15 July 2019, p. 2, available at https://www.iisd.org/sites/default/files/uploads/uncitral-submission-termination-withdrawal-en.pdf.
- 104. Ibid.
- 105. Ibid.
- 106. Johnson, L., Coleman, J., and Güven, B., Withdrawal of Consent to Investor-State Arbitration and Termination of Investment Treaties, Investment Treaty News, 24 April 2018, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2018/04/24/withdrawal-of-consent-to-investor-state-arbitration-and-termination-of-investment-treaties-lise-johnson-jesse-coleman-brooke-guven/#_edn6.
- Titi, A., The Right to Regulate in International Investment Law, Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, Baden-Baden, 2014, p. 19, available at https://ssrn.com/abstract=3648106.
- 108. See e.g., EU-Vietnam Investment Protection Agreement, 2019, Article 2.2; Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA), Article 8.9.
- 109. De Anzizu, H., Reisch, N., Investor-State Disputes, the Climate Emergency, and the Duty to Regulate Fossil Fuels: A Human Rights Perspective, in Ipp, A., Magnusson, A., (eds), Investment Arbitration and Climate Change, Wolters Kluwer, 2024, available at https://law-store.wolterskluwer.com/s/product/investment-arbitration-and-climate-change/01t4R00000PHL-POQA5.
- 110. Paine, J., Sheargold, E., A Climate Change Carve-Out for Investment Treaties, Journal of International Economic Law, June 2023, pp. 291–296, available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jijel/jgad011; Korzun, V., The Right to Regulate in Investor-State Arbitration: Slicing and Dicing Regulatory Carve-Outs, Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law, Vol. 50, 2017, pp. 394–395, available at https://ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/faculty_scholar_ship/880. See also in the context of the Energy Charter Treaty: Schaugg, L., Brewin, S., Uncertain Climate Impact and Several Open Questions: An analysis of the proposed reform of the Energy Charter Treaty, IISD Report, October 2022, pp. 28–29, available at https://www.iisd.org/publications/report/energy-charter-treaty-agreement-analysis.
- 111. The WTO general exceptions provide that the relevant agreements "shall not prevent the adoption or enforcement" of measures for a specified range of public purposes, including measures necessary for the protection of human, plant, or animal life or health and measures relating to the conservation of exhaustible natural resources, subject to an anti-abuse requirement known as the "chapeau", which requires that the exceptional measures must not "constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination" or act as a "disguised restriction" on international trade. The clauses also usually share three elements: (i) an exhaustive list of permissible policy objectives; for example, the protection of human, animal, or plant life or health, or the conservation of natural resources; (ii) a nexus requirement, denoting the required link between a state measure and a permissible objective; frequently used nexus requirements include "necessary for," "relating to," and "designed and applied for"; and (iii) a prohibition of discriminatory or arbitrary application.

- 112. See Bear Creek Mining Corporation v. Republic of Peru, ICSID Case No. ARB/14/21, Award, 30 November 2017, paras. 447-449 and 475-477; Eco Oro Minerals Corp. v. Republic of Colombia, ICSID Case No. ARB/16/41, Decision on Jurisdiction, Liability and Directions on Quantum, 9 September 2021, paras. 380-381 (holding that the exception did not exclude measures from the jurisdiction of the tribunal) and 826-837.
- Paine, J., Sheargold, E., A Climate Change Carve-Out for Investment Treaties, Journal of International Economic Law, 7 March 2023, p. 294, available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jiel/jgad011.
- 114. Bonnitcha, J., Brewin, S., Compensation Under Investment Treaties, IISD Best Practices Series, November 2020, p. 1, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/compensation-treaties-best-practicies-en.pdf.
- 115. Ibid., p. 24.
- 116. Ibid, p. 3.
- 117. Ibid, pp. 33-36.
- Paine, J., Sheargold, E., A Climate Change Carve-Out for Investment Treaties, Journal of International Economic Law, June 2023, pp. 289–290, available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jiel/jgad011.
- 119. See UNCTAD, Taking Stock of IIA Reform: Recent Developments, IIA Issues Note, No. 3, June 2019, p. 4, available at https://unctad.org/system/files/ official-document/diaepcbinf2019d5_en.pdf
- 120. See Draft Decision of the CETA Joint Committee, Decision No X/2022 of the CETA Joint Committee on the interpretation of certain terms in Article 8.10, Annex 8-A and Article 8.39, available at https://www.gerechter-welthandel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/20220905_Draft-Decision-and-Declarations_CETA.pdf.
- 121. TNI, Leaked CETA interpretative declaration an utterly inadequate solution, Transnational Institute, 6 October 2016, available at https://www.tni.org/en/article/leaked-ceta-interpretative-declaration-an-utterly-inade-quate-solution-0.
- 122. European Commission, Statement from the Commission on clarifications discussed with Germany regarding investment protection in the context of the CETA agreement, Statement/22/5223, 29 August 2022, available at https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/state-ment_22_5223.
- 123. Draft Decision of the CETA Joint Committee, Decision No X/2022 of the CETA Joint Committee on the interpretation of certain terms in Article 8.10, Annex 8-A and Article 8.39, Point 2(e), available at https://www.gerechter-welthandel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/20220905_Draft-Decision-and-Declarations_CETA.pdf.
- 124. Ibid; See also Joint Interpretative Declaration on the Investment Protection Agreement between Chile and the European Union and its Member States, available at https://circabc.europa.eu/rest/download/46e8c411-32a9-4d54-b29f-e0e08b8b33a4?.
- 125. The ultimate objective of the UNFCCC is to prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system. The Paris Agreement binds parties to pursue "efforts to limit the temperature increase" to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. Nonetheless, these climate-specific agreements are neither the exclusive source of State obligations to act on climate change, nor an exhaustive account of required State action. International human rights law also gives rise to State duties in the face of climate change with clear implications for required regulatory action, United Nations Human Rights, Key Messages on Human Rights and Climate Change, para. 4, available at https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/ ClimateChange/KeyMessages_on_HR_CC.pdf; De Anzizu, H., Reisch, N., Investor-State Disputes, the Climate Emergency, and the Duty to Regulate Fossil Fuels: A Human Rights Perspective, in Ipp, A., Magnusson, A., (eds), Investment Arbitration and Climate Change, Wolters Kluwer, 2024, pp. 193-194, available at https://law-store.wolterskluwer.com/s/product/ investment-arbitration-and-climate-change/01t4R00000PHLPOQA5
- 126. See Bonnitcha, J., Williams, Z. P., Investment Dispute Prevention and Management Agencies: Toward a more informed policy discussion, IISD Report, January 2022, p. 6, available at https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2021-10/investment-dispute-prevention-management-agencies-policy-discussion.pdf.
- 127. When the challenged State action is a denial or revocation of a permit or license, it is important to demonstrate that the criteria on which the decision was made are consistently applied (or [would] apply without distinction, if they have not yet been applied in other cases) to actors foreign and domestic, not that the same decision or outcome is reached in every case.
- 128. Some legislative and regulatory measures necessary to meet obligations under climate law are likely to trigger liability claims under international investment law. Changes in the existing legal framework will affect the regulatory environment for foreign investors and affect the value of foreign investments, which may lead to claims of indirect expropriation or breach of the FET standard. Aligning national policies with climate needs will inevitably affect investments in the field of fossil fuel infrastructure right across the supply chain.

- 129. Usually, investor protection treaties allow State parties to expropriate for a public purpose. In other words, it is generally accepted today that a State's good faith exercise of regulatory powers in the general interest does not qualify as expropriation. This is the so-called "police powers doctrine". The $police\ powers\ doctrine\ provides\ that\ a\ state\ possesses\ an\ inherent\ right\ to$ regulate in protection of the public interest and does not act wrongfully when, pursuant to this power, it enacts bona fide, non-discriminatory and proportionate regulations in accordance with due process, See e.g., United States Model BIT, 2012, Article 6. Surprisingly, states often fail to explain why a regulatory measure is important, how it is proportionate to the result sought, and whether it is required under existing legal obligations binding on the state. There is also no doubt that fossil fuels are the main drivers of the climate crisis, and an environmental, health, and human rights problem, See e.g., ClientEarth, Fossil fuels and climate change: the facts, 18 February 2022, available at https://www.clientearth.org/latest/ <u>latest-updates/stories/fossil-fuels-and-climate-change-the-facts/;</u> See generally United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019.
- 130. IIAs protect investors from discriminatory measures. This means that States shall take measures that "treat equally what is equal but it does not require a State to treat equally that which is different", RREEF Infrastructure (G.P.) Limited and RREEF Pan-European Infrastructure Two Lux S.à.r.I. v. Kingdom of Spain, ICSID Case No. ARB/13/30, Decision on Responsibility and on the Principles of Quantum, 30 November 2018, para. 431. As an example, in the context of the coal phase-out in the Netherlands, the measure was designed to apply to all coal-fired power plants, and to all national and foreign investors, see Netherlands, Prohibition of Coal in Electricity Production Act. 2019.
- 131. The obligation to provide investors FET is also often understood as an obligation to provide due process. In this context, arbitrariness is generally referred as "a willful disregard of due process of law, an act which shocks, or at least surprises, a sense of juridical propriety", or as "a lack of due process leading to an outcome which offends a sense of judicial propriety", see Vsevolod, M., Unreasonable and/or Arbitrary Measures in Fair and Equitable Treatment, Jus Mundi, 24 October 2023, available at <a href="https://jusmundi.com/en/document/publication/en-unreasonable-and-or-arbitrary-measures-in-fair-and-equitable-treatment; Loewen Group, Inc. and Raymond L. Loewen v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/98/3, Award, 26 June 2003, para. 132; Aceris Law LLC, Denial of justice in International Investment Law, Aceris Law, 10 October 2018, available at https://www.acerislaw.com/denial-of-justice-in-international-in-vestment-law/.
- 132. As a reminder (see Introduction), the politically endorsed consensus science - reflected in the most recent reports of the IPCC - makes clear that avoiding climate catastrophe and further irreparable harm to people and ecosystems necessitates rapidly ending reliance on fossil fuels, including by "shifting energy investments away from fossil fuels and towards low-carbon technologies", see IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Full Report, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, pp. 85, 333, 698, 1771 and 1742, available at <a href="https://www. ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_SPM.pdf; Welsby, D., et al., Unextractable fossil fuels in a 1.5 °C world, 2021, Nature, Vol. 597, p. 230, available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03821-8. The IPCC also issued a stark warning in its 2018 Special Report: the world's governments have less than twelve years to take action to completely transform energy systems in order to avert catastrophic climate change, see IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C - An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, Full Report, 2018, pp. 51-52, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/ sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf. To meet the objectives of the Paris Agreement, according to a report by the International Energy Agency (IEA), fossil fuels need to decline from accounting for nearly 4/5 of total energy supply today to just over 1/5 in 2050. No new investments in oil and gas should be approved, and no new coal mines or mining expansions IEA, Net Zero by 2050 - A roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, 2021, $available\ at\ \underline{https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050}.\ Moreover,$ according to the 2022 IPCC report, this requires not only a halt to fossil fuel expansion, but also the closure of existing facilities: "[w]ithout early retirements, or reductions in utilization, the current fossil infrastructure will emit more GHGs than is compatible with limiting warming to 1.5 $^{\circ}$ C", IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, Full Report, Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 90, available at https://www. ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_SPM.pdf; See United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019.

- 133. Fossil fuel industries have known that the combustion of fossil fuels was driving climate change and modeled and predicted global warming with "shocking skill and accuracy" starting in the 1970s, see McCarthy, A., Exxon disputed climate findings for years. Its scientists knew better, The Harvard Gazette, 12 January 2023, available at https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/ story/2023/01/harvard-led-analysis-finds-exxonmobil-internal-research-accurately-predicted-climate-change/; See also Milman, O. Revealed: Exxon made 'breathtakingly' accurate climate predictions in 1970s and 80s, The Guardian, 12 January 2023, available at https://www. theguardian.com/business/2023/jan/12/exxon-climate-change-globalwarming-research#; Muffett, C., Feit, S., Smoke and Fumes: The Legal and Evidentiary Basis for Holding Big Oil Accountable for the Climate Crisis, November 2017, pp. 7–22, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/Smoke-Fumes.pdf; See e.g., Naomi, O., Conway, E. M., Merchants of Doubt: How a Handful of Scientists Obscured the Truth on Issues from Tobacco Smoke to Global Warming, Bloomsbury Press, 2010, available at https://philpapers.org/rec/OREMOD; See also Committee on Oversight and Accountability (Democrats), Oversight Committee Releases New Documents Showing Big Oil's Greenwashing Campaign and Failure to Reduce Emissions, Press Release, 9 December 2022, available at https:// oversightdemocrats.house.gov/news/press-releases/oversight-committee-releases-new-documents-showing-big-oil-s-greenwashing.
- 134. Nweke-Eze, S. U., Jurisdiction: Main Elements, Global Arbitration Review, 14 January 2022, available at https://globalarbitrationreview.com/guide/the-guide-investment-treaty-protection-and-enforcement/first-edition/article/jurisdiction-main-elements.
- 135. Non-derogable human rights refers to rights that are absolute and may not be subject to any derogation, even in time of war or emergency. As an example, Article 15(2) of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) provides a list of rights that may not be suspended under any circumstances.
- 136. Noting that systemic integration has rarely been invoked in investment arbitration.
- 137. See e.g., Agreement Between The Government of Canada And The Government Of The Republic Of Argentina For The Promotion And Protection Of Investment, 5 November 1991, Article X(4); Energy Charter Treaty, 17 December 1994, Article 26(6) providing that tribunals "shall decide the issues in dispute in accordance with this Treaty and applicable rules and principles of international law"; United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, 30 November 2018. Article 14.D.9.
- See e.g., MTD Equity Sdn. Bhd. And MTD Chile S.A. v. Republic of Chile, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/7, Award, 25 May 2004, para. 204; CMS Gas Transmission Company v. The Republic of Argentina, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/8, Award, 12 May 2005, paras. 115–122.
- See e.g., Middle East Cement Shipping and Handling Co. S.A. v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/99/6, Award, 12 April 2002, para. 87; CMS Gas Transmission Company v. The Republic of Argentina, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/8, Award, 12 May 2005, para. 115.
- 140. International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL), Annex I-VI, 1973/1978.
- 141. United Nations, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), 1982.
- 142. See Chowdhury, J., At Historic ITLOS Hearings, States Stake Out Positions on Climate Duties and Ocean Protection, CIEL, 28 September 2023, available at https://www.ciel.org/at-historic-itlos-hearings-states-stake-out-positions-on-climate-duties-and-ocean-protection/.
- Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter (London Convention), 1972; Protocol to the London Convention (London Protocol), 1996.
- 144. OSPAR Commission, Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR Convention), 1992.
- 145. United Nations, Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), 1992.
- International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Co-operation (OPRC), 1990.
- International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 9 May 1992, 1771
 U.N.T.S. 107, Article 2; Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework
 Convention on Climate Change, 12 December 2015, T.I.A.S. No. 16–1104, Article 2.1(a).
- 149. United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019, para. 62.
- 150. Human Rights Committee, General comment No. 36 Article 6: right to life, CCPR/C/GC/36, 3 September 2019, para. 62; Human Rights Committee, Views adopted by the Committee under Article 5(4) of the Optional Protocol, concerning communication No. 2728/2016 Ioane Teitiota v. New Zealand, CCPR/C/127/D/2728/2016, 7 January 2020, para. 9.4.

- 151. Ibid., paras. 6, 7, 18, 21. The right to life requires States to take "appropriate measures to address the general conditions in society that may give rise to direct threats to life or prevent individuals from enjoying their right to life with dignity", Human Rights Committee, General comment No. 36 (2018) on article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, on the right to life, CCPR/C/GC/36, 30 October 2018, para. 26. "Every human being has the inherent right to life. This right shall be protected by law", International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 16 December 1966, Article 6.
- 152. lbid., para. 22.
- 153. Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, Climate change and the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, E/C.12/2018/1, 31 October 2018, para. 6.
- 154. United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019, paras. 73 and 77(a); United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change Promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change mitigation, loss and damage and participation, A/77/226, 26 July 2022, paras. 7, 13–15, 90; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, E. Tendayi Achiume Ecological crisis, climate justice and racial justice, A/77/549, 25 October 2022, paras. 31, 52, 62, 64; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights Climate change and poverty, A/HRC/41/39, 17 July 2019, paras. 33–38, 43.
- 155. International Human Rights Instruments, Joint statement by the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, the Committee on the Rights of the Child and the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, HRI/2019/1, 14 May 2020, para. 3; Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, General recommendation No. 37 (2018) on the gender-related dimensions of disaster risk reduction in the context of climate change, CEDAW/C/GC/37, 13 March 2018, para.
- 156. United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019, para. 26.
- 157. Press Release, Special Procedures, Fossils fuels at the heart of the planetary environmental crisis: UN experts, 30 November 2023, available at https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2023/1]/fossils-fuels-heart-planetary-environmental-crisis-un-experts.
- 158. See e.g., According to Uniper's advisor, Mr. Schoenmakers, the company agreed to build the plant in 2007, after several meetings and discussions with the Government. Mr. Schoenmakers mentioned "the receptiveness of the Dutch government for such an investment that led to the construction of this power plant". In a statement concerning its acquisition of Uniper, it was also reported that "[t]he investment decision on the plant was made in 2007 with cooperation from the Netherlands government at the time". ClientEarth, Annex: Legal opinion on Uniper's legally misconceived ISDS threat to Dutch Coal Phase-Out, 21 November 2019, p. 16, available at https://www.clientearth.org/media/dkji32cj/clientearth-letter-and-analy-sis-regarding-the-uniper-isds-threat-ce-en.pdf; Hyvärinen, E., 7 things to know about Fortum's Uniper acquisition, ForTheDoers Blog, 16 October 2019, available at https://www.fortum.com/about-us/blog/forenergy-blog/7-things-to-know-about-fortums-uniper-acquisition.
- 159. United Nations Human Rights, Principles for Responsible Contracts: Integrating the Management of Human Rights Risks into State-Investor Contract Negotiations, Guidance for Negotiators, 2016, pp. 15-18, available at https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/Principles_ResponsibleContracts_HR_PUB_15_1_EN.pdf; Mann, H., Stabilization in investment contracts: Rethinking the context, reformulating the result, Investment Treaty News, 7 October 2011, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2011/10/07/stabilization-in-investment-contracts-rethinking-the-context-reformulating-the-result/.
- 160. Levashova, Y., The Right of States to Regulate in their Public Interest and The Right of Investors to Receive Fair and Equitable Treatment: The search for a balance in treaties and cases on international investment law, 2018, pp. 119–181, available at https://dspace.library.uu.nl/ bitstream/1874/373962/1/Levashova.pdf.
- 161. "No investor may reasonably expect that the circumstances prevailing at the time the investment is made remain totally unchanged. In order to determine whether frustration of the foreign investor's expectations was justified and reasonable, the host State's legitimate right subsequently to regulate domestic matters in the public interest must be taken into consideration as well. As the S.D. Myers tribunal has stated, the determination of a breach of the obligation of 'fair and equitable treatment' by the host State must be made in the light of the high measure of deference that international law generally extends to the right of domestic authorities to regulate matters within their own borders", Saluka Investments B.V. v. The Czech Republic, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 17 March 2006, para. 305.

- 162. EDF (Services) Limited v. Romania, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/13, Award, 8 October 2009, para. 217.
- Fossil fuel industries have known that the combustion of fossil fuels was driving climate change and modeled and predicted global warming with "shocking skill and accuracy" starting in the 1970s, see McCarthy, A., Exxon disputed climate findings for years. Its scientists knew better, The Harvard Gazette, 12 January 2023, available at https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/ story/2023/01/harvard-led-analysis-finds-exxonmobil-internal-research-accurately-predicted-climate-change/; See also Milman, O. Revealed: Exxon made 'breathtakingly' accurate climate predictions in 1970s and 80s, The Guardian, 12 January 2023, available at https://www. theguardian.com/business/2023/jan/12/exxon-climate-change-globalwarming-research#; Muffett, C., Feit, S., Smoke and Fumes: The Legal and Evidentiary Basis for Holding Big Oil Accountable for the Climate Crisis, November 2017, pp. 7-22, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/Smoke-Fumes.pdf. The UNFCCC, whose objective is to prevent "dangerous" human interference with the climate system, entered into force on 21 March 1994. In 2015, UNFCCC Contracting Parties adopted the Paris Agreement, which commits States to pursue efforts "to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels." Effective implementation of the goals of those agreements is not possible without curtailing fossil fuel production and use.
- 164. See e.g., Oreskes, N., Conway, E. M., Merchants of Doubt: How a Handful of Scientists Obscured the Truth on Issues from Tobacco Smoke to Global Warming, Bloomsbury Press, 2010, available at https://philpapers.org/rec/OREMOD; See also Committee on Oversight and Accountability (Democrats), Oversight Committee Releases New Documents Showing Big Oil's Greenwashing Campaign and Failure to Reduce Emissions, Press Release, 9 December 2022, available at https://oversightdemocrats.house.gov/news/press-releases/oversight-committee-releases-new-documents-showing-big-oil-s-greenwashing.
- 165. Feit, S., Trillion Dollar Transformation: Fiduciary Duty, Divestment, and Fossil Fuels in an Era of Climate Risk, December 2016, pp. 5–10, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Trillion-Dollar-Transformation-CIEL.pdf; CIEL, Rising Tide: Impact Report 2017, 2017, p. 10, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/CIELIm-pactReport2017.pdf.
- 166. See Tienhaara, K., Cotula, L., Raising the cost of climate action? Investor-state dispute settlement and compensation for stranded fossil fuel assets, IIED, Land, investment and rights, October 2020, available at https://www.iied.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/migrate/17660IIED.pdf.
- 167. See Tienhaara, K., Johnson, L., and Burger, M., Valuing Fossil Fuel Assets in an Era of Climate Disruption, Investment Treaty News, 20 June 2020, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2020/06/20/valuing-fossil-fuel-assets-in-an-era-of-climate-disruption/.
- 168. Ibid.
- 169. Case concerning the Factory at Chorzów (The Government of Germany v. The Government of the Polish Republic), Judgment I.C.J. Merits No. 13, Series A No. 17, 13 September 1928, p. 47; See Tienhaara, K., Johnson, L., and Burger, M., Valuing Fossil Fuel Assets in an Era of Climate Disruption, Investment Treaty News, 20 June 2020, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2020/06/20/valuing-fossil-fuel-assets-in-an-era-of-climate-disruption/.
- Aceris Law LLC, Lost Profits in Investment Arbitration, 26 July 2020, available at https://www.acerislaw.com/fr/lost-profits-in-investment-arbitration/.
- Tienhaara, K., Johnson, L., and Burger, M., Valuing Fossil Fuel Assets in an Era
 of Climate Disruption, Investment Treaty News, 20 June 2020, available at
 https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2020/06/20/valuing-fossil-fuel-assets-in-an-era-of-climate-disruption/.
- 172. International Energy Agency, World Energy Investment 2023 Overview and key findings, available at https://www.iea.org/reports/world-ener-gy-investment-2023/overview-and-key-findings (last visited 20 November 2023).
- 173. Tienhaara, K., Johnson, L., and Burger, M., Valuing Fossil Fuel Assets in an Era of Climate Disruption, Investment Treaty News, 20 June 2020, available at https://www.iisd.org/itn/en/2020/06/20/valuing-fossil-fuel-assets-in-an-era-of-climate-disruption/.
- 174. Ibid.
- 175. Hoelck Thjoernelund, M. C., State of Necessity as and Exemption from State Responsibility for Investments, University of Heidelberg, March 2008, p. 424, available at https://www.mpil.de/files/pdf2/mpunyb_11_llm_thesis.pdf; Lavopa, F., Argentina and the ISDS system, Third World Economics, No. 598/599, 2015, pp. 24–25, available at https://www.twn.my/title2/twe/2015/598-599/10%20(Opinion).htm.
- 176. Hoelck Thjoernelund, M. C., State of Necessity as and Exemption from State Responsibility for Investments, University of Heidelberg, March 2008, p. 424, available at https://www.mpil.de/files/pdf2/mpunyb_11_llm_thesis.pdf.

- 177. A notable example is LG&E v. Argentina, where the tribunal acknowledged the validity of Argentina's claim of state of necessity. The tribunal concluded that the actions Argentina took in response to its economic crisis were essential to uphold public order and safeguard its fundamental security interests, LG&E Energy Corp., LG&E Capital Corp., and LG&E International, Inc. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/1, Award, 25 July 2007; LG&E Energy Corp., LG&E Capital Corp., and LG&E International, Inc. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/1, Decision on Liability, 3 October 2006.
- 178. ILC Articles on State Responsibility, Article 25.
- 179. International Law Commission, Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with commentaries, 2001, pp. 83–84, available at https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/commentaries/9_6_2001.pdf; Paddeu F., Waibel, M., Necessity 20 Years On: The Limits of Article 25, ICSID Review Foreign Investment Law Journal, Vol. 37, No. 1–2, 2022, p. 171, available at https://doi.org/10.1093/icsidreview/siab047
- 180. See United Nations, Yearbook of the International Law Commission -Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its thirty-second session, Vol. II, Part. 2, 1980, p. 49, para. 32, available at https://legal.un.org/ilc/publications/yearbooks/english/ilc_1980_v2_p2.pdf; ILC Articles on State Responsibility, Article 25.
- 181. United Nations, Yearbook of the International Law Commission Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its thirty-second session, Vol. II, Part. 2, 1980, p. 49, para. 32, available at https://legal.un.org/ilc/publications/yearbooks/english/ilc_1980_v2_p2.pdf.
- 182. See United Nations, Yearbook of the International Law Commission Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its thirty-second session, Vol. II, Part. 2, 1980, p. 35, available at https://legal.un.org/ilc/publications/yearbooks/english/ilc_1980_v2_p2.pdf. "The Court has no difficulty in acknowledging that the concerns expressed by Hungary for its natural environment in the region affected by the Gabciko-vo-Nagymaros Project related to an 'essential interest' of that State, within the meaning given to that expression in Article 33 of the Draft of the International Law Commission. The Commission, in its Commentary, indicated that one should not, in that context, reduce an 'essential interest' to a matter only of the 'existence' of the State, and that the whole question was, ultimately, to be judged in light of the particular case [...]", Case concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary v. Slovakia), Judgment I.C.J. Reports 1997, 25 September 1997, para. 53.
- 183. See e.g., Human Rights Council, Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council on 7 July 2022, A/HRC/RES/50/9, 14 July 2022, p. 2; Human Rights Council, The impacts of climate change on the human rights of people in vulnerable situations, A/HRC/50/57, 6 May 2022, para. 7; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable development, A/74/161, 15 July 2019, para. 6.
- 184. See IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C, Full Report, 2018, pp. 4–5 and 35, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf.
- 185. IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Full Report, Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 9, available at https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg2/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FullReport.pdf.
- 186. Vohra, K., Vodonos, A., Schwartz, J., Marais, E.A., Sulprizio, M.P., Mickley, L.J., Global mortality from outdoor fine particle pollution generated by fossil fuel combustion: Results from GEOS-Chem, Environmental Research, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110754.
- **187.** See World Health Organization, *Ambient* (outdoor) *air* pollution, 2022, available at https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health.
- 188. IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C, Full Report, 2018, p. 44, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf.
- 189. Ibid.
- Report, Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, p. 19, available at https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg2/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FullReport.pdf. See also IPCC, Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2021, p. 30, available at https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg1/IPCC_AR6_WGI_FullReport.pdf; IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5 °C, Full Report, 2018, p. 257, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf; IPCC, Climate Change, 2014: Synthesis Report, Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2014, pp. 72–73, available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/SYR_AR5_FINAL_full.pdf.

- 191. CIEL, Heinrich Böll Stiftung, Beyond the Limits: New IPCC Working Group II Report Highlights How Gambling on Overshoot is Pushing the Planet Past a Point of No Return, 28 February 2022, p. 5, available at https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/CIEL_HBF_IPCC-WGII-Key-Messag-es-28Feb2022.pdf.
- 192. Werrell, C. E., Femia, F., Climate Change, the Erosion of State Sovereignty, and World Order, Center for Climate and Security, Vol. XXII, No. II, 2016, p. 222, available at https://climateandsecurity.files.wordpress.com/2012/04/werrell_femia_final-article_climate-change_state-sovereignty_world-order.pdf; Badrinarayana, D., International Law in a Time of Climate Change, Sovereignty Loss, and Economic Unity, Proceedings of the Annual Meeting (American Society of International Law), Vol. 104, 2010, p. 257, available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5305/procannmeetasii.104.0256.
- 193. Paddeu F., Waibel, M., Necessity 20 Years On: The Limits of Article 25, ICSID Review Foreign Investment Law Journal, Vol. 37, No. 1–2, 2022, pp. 165–169, available at https://doi.org/10.1093/icsidreview/siab047.
- 194. Enron Corporation and Ponderosa Assets, L.P. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/3, Decision on the Application for Annulment of the Argentine Republic, 30 July 2010, para. 353.
- 195. Johnson, L., et al., Costs and benefits of investment treaties Practical Considerations for States, Policy Paper, Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment, March 2018, p. 15, available at https://ccsi.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/pics/Cost-and-Benefits-of-Investment-Treaties-Practical-Considerations-for-States-ENG-mr.pdf
- 196. "The trends observable in recent IIAs indicate that states wish to strengthen their ability to participate in disputes, especially on matters of treaty interpretation, and to further ensure that tribunals take due account of such interpretations [...]". Magraw, K., Trends and ISDS Backlash Related to Non-Disputing Treaty Party Submissions, Public Actors in International Investment Iaw, 2021, p. 94, available at https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-58916-5_5.
- For example, the US has made multiple submissions as a non-disputing party in investment treaty arbitrations under NAFTA. Lion Mexico Consolidated L.P. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/15/2, Submission of the United States of America, 21 June 2019; Vento Motorcycles, Inc. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/17/3, Submission of the United States of America, 23 August 2019; Tennant Energy, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2018-54, Submission of the United States of America, 27 November 2019. In addition, the EU has also intervened many intra-EU disputes as amicus curiae before arbitral tribunals as well as before national courts. The EU's involvement in investment treaty proceedings between EU Member States and third countries could be explained by Regulation (EU) No. 1219/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2012 establishing transitional arrangements for bilateral investment agreements between Member States and third countries, González-Bueno, C., Lozano, L., More Than A Friend of the Court: The Evolving Role of the European Commission in Investor-State Arbitration, Kluwer Arbitration Blog, 26 January 2015, available at https://arbitrationblog.kluwerarbitration.com/2015/01/26/more-than-a-friend-of-thecourt-the-evolving-role-of-the-european-commission-in-investor-state-arbitration/.

- 198. See e.g., North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), Article 1128 stating that: "[O]n written notice to the disputing parties, a Party may make submissions to a Tribunal on a question of interpretation of this Agreement."
- 199. 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 68(2).
- 200. 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 68(2).
- 201. OECD, Transparency and Third Party Participation in Investor State Dispute Settlement Procedures, OECD Working Papers on International Investment 2005/01, June 2005, p. 2, "The traditional manner in which governmental measures are reviewed for compliance with international law in a private setting, i.e. confidential in camera proceedings has come under increased scrutiny and criticism", available at http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/524613550768.
- 202. See e.g., Article 20.11 of The Dominican Republic-Central America-United States FTA specifically provides for third party participation, The Dominican Republic-Central America-United States Free Trade Agreement, 5 August 2004, Article 20.11; See also NAFTA, Statement of the Free Trade Commission on Non-Disputing Party Participation, 2003, available at http://www.sice.oas.org/tpd/nafta/commission/nondispute_e.pdf
- 203. 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 67(2); 2006 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 37(2); NAFTA, Statement of the Free Trade Commission on Non-Disputing Party Participation, 2003, available at http://www.sice.oas.org/tpd/nafta/commission/nondispute_e.pdf.
- 204. NAFTA, Statement of the Free Trade Commission on Non-Disputing Party Participation, 2003, available at http://www.sice.oas.org/tpd/nafta/commission/nondispute_e.pdf.
- 2022 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 67(2); 2006 ICSID Arbitration Rules, Rule 37(2).
- 206. As an example, in the case Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. v. United Mexican States, the tribunal does not consider that Cooperativa has a significant interest in the dispute, as "the Claimant is not seeking the restitution of the project at issue but a compensation arising out of the alleged breaches of NAFTA". Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/1, Procedural Order No. 6, 20 December 2021, para. 18.

A Toolkit to Safeguard Fossil Fuel Measures from Investment Treaty Claims

Overcoming International Investment Agreements as a Barrier to Climate Action: A Toolkit to Safeguard Fossil Fuel Measures from Investment Treaty Claims by the Center for International Environmental Law is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

This toolkit was authored by Helionor de Anzizu and Nikki Reisch, with support from Chloé Löffel, Maria Jose Romero Hicks Murakami, and Karla Koren. Additional review and contributions were made by Fabian Flues from Power Shift; Eunjung Lee from E3G; Stuart Trew from Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives; Kyla Tienhaara from Queen's University; and Lukas Schaugg, Nyaguthii Maina, and Suzy Nikiema from the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD). The toolkit was edited by Cate Bonacini.

Errors and omissions are the sole responsibility of CIEL. This toolkit is for general information purposes only. It is intended solely as a discussion piece. It is not and should not be relied upon as legal advice. While efforts were made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this toolkit, and the above information is from sources believed reliable, the information is presented "as is" and without warranties, express or implied. If there are material errors within this toolkit, please advise the authors. Receipt of this issue brief is not intended to and does not create an attorney-client relationship. Please send comments or questions to info@ciel.org to be sure of a reply.

© January 2024



ciel.org

Instagram @ciel_org

Twitter @ciel_tweets

Linkedin linkedin.com/ciel.org

